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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-13-290261-1

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor April 12, 2021COURT MINUTES

C-13-290261-1 State of Nevada
vs
Christopher Pigeon

April 12, 2021 11:00 AM Defendant's Motion to Vacate or Reduce Habitual Sentence

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Silva, Cristina D.

Natali, Andrea

RJC Courtroom 11B

JOURNAL ENTRIES

COURT NOTED, it read the Motion, Opposition, and Reply.  Argument by Mr. Jackson in 
support of the motion regarding whether there was sufficient evidence, whether the sentence 
was proportional, whether the habitual criminal finding should be reconsidered and the 
sentence should be reduced.  Colloquy regarding whether a Post-Conviction Petition for Writ 
of Habeas Corpus (PCWHC) should have been filed instead of this motion.  COURT NOTED, 
it did not believe it could rule on the motion as it did not believe it had jurisdiction.  Statement 
by Deft. regarding matters he would like his attorney to address.  COURT DIRECTED, the 
Deft. not to speak as he had counsel representation and after the Deft. continued to speak, 
ORDERED, Deft. to be muted.  COURT ADVISED, it did not have jurisdiction to grant the relief 
to vacate or modify the sentence; NOTED there was another avenue to seek relief by 
PCWHC.  COURT FURTHER ADVISED, it did not believe there was an eight amendment 
issue pending and the Deft. was found to be a habitual criminal.  Mr. Schwartz stated he had 
nothing to add to his Opposition; noting this type of motion is for a specific mistake.  COURT 
ORDERED, the request to incorporate the documents is GRANTED; NOTING it had read the 
presentence investigation report (PSI), the psycho sexual evaluation, and the sentencing 
memorandum, because of the arguments regarding the habitual criminal treatment, and those 
documents were relevant to the District Court's findings of the habitual qualification.  COURT 
FURTHER ORDERED, the motion to vacate or reduce habitual sentence is DENIED 
WITHOUT PREJUDICE.  Mr. Jackson stated he needed to talk to the Deft. further, to 
determine whether he will be filing an appeal on the denial of the motion or if he is going to file 
a PCWHC, as there may be an issue due to the timeliness.  COURT DIRECTED the State to 
prepare the findings of fact and conclusions of law and run it by Mr. Jackson before submitting 
to the Court for signature.  

NDC

PARTIES PRESENT:
Bryan A. Schwartz Attorney for Plaintiff

Christopher Pigeon Defendant

State of Nevada Plaintiff

Terrence   Michael Jackson Attorney for Defendant

RECORDER: Villani, Gina

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 4/29/2021 April 12, 2021Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Andrea Natali
000243



Case Number: C-13-290261-1

Electronically Filed
3/29/2018 1:47 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MEMO 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
ELIZABETH MERCER 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #10681 
200 Lewis A venue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

DISTRICT COURT 
8 CLARKCOUNTY,NEVADA 

9 THE STA TE OF NEV ADA, 

10 Plaintiff, 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

-vs-

CHRISTOPHER PIGEON, 
#1694872 

CASE NO: C-13-290261-1 

DEPTNO: VIII 

Defendant. 

SENTENCING MEMORANDUM 

DATE OF HEARING: 4/9/18 
TIME OF HEARING: 8:00 A.M. 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County 

District Attorney, through ELIZABETH MERCER, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and 

hereby submits this Memorandum for the Court's consideration. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On June 5, 2013, the Grand Jury returned a true bill and the State filed an Indictment 

charging Christopher Pigeon with "two counts of prohibited acts by sex offender, one count 

attempt first degree kidnapping, one count aggravated stalking, one count luring child with the 

intent to engage in sexual contact, one burglary, one open and gross lewdness, and one lawful 

contact with child gross misdemeanor." . Pigeon was arraigned arid pleaded not guilty on June 

12, 2013. 
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1 On July 8, 2013, the District Court heard a status check on Pigeon's competency, and 

2 referred the matter to Competency Court. On August 2, 2013, the Competency Court found 

3 Pigeon not competent and remanded him to the Division of Mental Health Development 

4 Services pursuant to NRS 178.425. On December 13, 2013, Pigeon was returned from Lake's 

5 Crossing and found competent to proceed with adjudication. However, counsel indicated that 

6 there would be a challenge to the competency finding, and the Court ordered a hearing on the 

7 matter. 

8 The Court held a hearing on March 21, 2014, wherein Dr. Bradley and Dr. Harder 

9 testified. The Court ordered the matter continued pending decision. On April 4, 2014, after 

10 taking the matter under advisement, the Court found Pigeon competent and transferred the 

11 case back to the originating court. 

12 On April 23, 2014, the District Court heard Pigeon's motion to represent himself, 

13 canvassed Pigeon pursuant to Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), and granted Pigeon's 

14 motions to withdraw counsel and ordered that Pigeon would proceed in pro per status. II AA 

15 313. 

16 The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal on July 

17 31, 2014. On August 4, 2014, the State filed an Amended Indictment charging Pigeon with 

18 Attempt First Degree Kidnapping (Category B Felony NRS 193.330 200.320), Aggravated 

19 Stalking (Category B Felony NRS 200.575), Luring Children With The Intent To Engage In 

20 Sexual Conduct (Category B Felony 201.560), Burglary (Category B Felony NRS 205.060), 

21 Open Or Gross Lewdness (Category D Felony 201.210), Unlawful Contact With Child (Gross 

22 Misdemeanor NRS 207.260), and two counts of Prohibited Acts By Sex Offender (Category 

23 D Felony NRS 179D.470 179D.550 179D). 

24 On August 4, 2014, trial was set to begin. Before proceeding, the Court again 

25 canvassed Pigeon regarding the State's intent to seek habitual criminal treatment, and whether 

26 Pigeon still wished to represent himself. Pigeon stated that he understood the consequences 

27 and risks, but still did not want a lawyer appointed. The bifurcated jury trial began on August 

28 4, 2013, and the jury returned verdicts of guilty as to Counts 1-6 on August 5, 2014. The 

2 
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1 second portion of the trial, regarding Counts 7-8, was held thereafter, and the jury returned 

2 verdicts of guilty on those counts the same day. 

3 On December 1, 2014, the District Court heard and granted the State's request for a no 

4 contact order. Pigeon sent a Christmas card to the victim and her family. The Court ordered 

5 that Pigeon have no further contact with the victim or her family, and imposed an order 

6 authorizing the Clark County Detention Center to intercept and inspect all Pigeon's outgoing 

7 mail to prevent any further communications. The written order was filed on December 1, 

8 2014. 

9 On December 10, 2014, the Court sentenced Pigeon, in addition to fees, as follows: 

10 under the Large Habitual Criminal statute as to Counts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7 and 8; in Count 1 - to 

11 life in the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDC) without the possibility of parole; Count 

12 2 - to life in the NDC without the possibility of parole; Count 3 - to life in the NDC without 

13 the possibility of parole; Count 4 - to life in the NDC without the possibility of parole; Count 

14 5 - to life in the NDC without the possibility of parole; Count 6 - sentenced to Clark County 

15 Detention Center (CCDC) for 364 days; Count 7 - to life in the NDC without the possibility 

16 of parole; Count 8 - to life in the NDC without the possibility of parole; Counts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7 

17 and 8 to run concurrent with 573 days credit for time served. The Judgment of Conviction 

18 was filed on December 23, 2014. He appealed his convictions and the Supreme Court 

19 ultimately reversed all counts except for the Unlawful Contact with a Minor and one Count of 

20 Sex Offender Failure to Register. 

21 The matter is currently scheduled for resentencing on April 3, 2018. This brief is filed 

22 in support of the State's position that Defendant should still be adjudged guilty as a Habitual 

23 Criminal pursuant to NRS 207.010 and sentenced to Life without the Possibility of Parole. 

24 I I I 

25 I I I 

26 I I I 

27 I I I 

28 / / / 

3 
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1 STATEMENT OF FACTS 

2 In May 2013, C.C. 1 was 12 years old and attended Hyde Park Middle School. It is a 

3 magnet school, so she would take the city bus to school in the mornings. The bus would pick 

4 her up near her home, and she would get off to transfer at the transit center in Downtown Las 

5 Vegas. C.C. would ride the bus alone. 

6 On May 15, 2013, C.C. noticed a man at the transit center who made her uncomfortable 

7 because he was looking at her. III M 518. He got on the same bus that she did, and he got 

8 off at the same stop that she did. III M 518. C.C. would often go to the CJ's Mini Mart 

9 before school, and she did on that day. III M 518-19. She noticed that the man followed her 

10 into CJ' s Mini Mart that day. III M 519. 2 She did not initiate any contact or conversation 

11 with the man that morning, but he continued to look at her while in the store. III M 520. She 

12 bought a pack of gum and immediately left the store. III M 520. She was in a rush that day, 

13 so she did not notice whether the man followed her to school. III M 520. C.C. thought it 

14 was strange that the man followed her, and it caused her to become concerned or worried. III 

15 M522. 

16 The next day, on May 16, 2013, C.C. noticed the same man looking at her at the transit 

1 7 center again. Again, she did not initiate any contact with him, but tried to avoid him because 

18 he concerned her. C.C. was not planning on going to CJ's that morning, and was taking a 

19 different route to go straight to school. At that point, Pigeon confronted C.C., blocked her 

20 way, and grabbed her hand or wrist while telling her she looked nice or she was beautiful and 

21 that he loved her. She told him to leave her alone, and she ran to CJ's because she felt unsafe 

22 and knew there would be people there. Despite her telling him to leave her alone, Pigeon 

23 followed her into CJ's and sat at the slot machines. 

24 On May 17, 2013, C.C. again saw the same man at the transit center. Again he boarded 

25 the same bus she did, looked at her while on the bus, and got off at the same stop she did. 

26 Again he followed her into CJ's, where he again told her that she looked nice. He followed 

27 

28 
1 For purposes of protecting C.C.'s identity, the State will refer to C.C. by her initials, C.C., throughout the 
brief. 
2 In court, C.C. identified Pigeon as the man who followed her. 

4 
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her out of the store, and she walked quickly to try to get to school. She was afraid and creeped 

out. 

The store clerk initially reported that the interaction was suspicious, and Detective 

Lafreniere responded and viewed video surveillance on May 17, 2013. The surveillance 

footage led him to identify Pigeon as the man who had been following C.C. in the store. 

Additionally, the footage showed Pigeon masturbating in the store on May 15, 2013. 

Lafreniere went from the store to Hyde Park at around school dismissal time hoping to 

see Pigeon. When he arrived, he saw Pigeon sitting at a park across from the school, "affixed" 

on the school and rocking back and forth while shaking his legs. As Lafreniere observed, he 

saw Pigeon get off the bench and walk onto school grounds and actually enter the gated area 

of the school. He was stopped by a school employee, and Lafreniere made contact and 

escorted him to the police station. There, he interviewed Pigeon, who made a recorded 

voluntary statement. A redacted version of the statement was played for the jury and admitted 

at trial. 

C.C. 's grandmother, who is her legal guardian, testified that C.C. took the city bus to 

school in the mornings. She testified that she did not know Pigeon before police contacted her 

about the incidents underlying this case, and that she never gave him permission to speak to, 

touch, or take C.C. anywhere. She also did not give him permission to spend time with C.C. 

She testified that C.C. was upset by the incidents with Pigeon and was scared afterward. 

Pigeon testified during trial to the following: 

I don't often talk to young girls, but I find this particular girl very nice, 
bright, interesting. I thought she was a nice specimen. I like her being 
slimmer. I just sort of fell in the first stages of love with her and was 
trying to get to know her over the summer. There were only two weeks 
before school was out so I was really trying to get to - get her to let 
me meet her mom or her dad or maybe I could have come over for 
dinner or something over the summer. It would have been nice. 

My intention was to marry her if I could have met her mom and she 
would have agreed. So I really had good intentions, I'd say. I mean, 
obviously I was somewhat sexually attracted to her. 

5 
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1 (emphasis added). Pigeon said that on May 17, 2013, he was at the park after school waiting 

2 to see C.C. to try to say hello. He eventually entered the school, because he "was going to 

3 look in the hallway briefly to see if [C.C.] might not be there." Pigeon admitted that he never 

4 met her family, but he did want to marry and have sex with C.C. with parental permission. He 

5 testified that he found her sexually attractive. He also testified that he still loved C.C., he 

6 was happy to see her again in court, he would like to see her again, and he would like to 

7 have a relationship with her. 

8 ARGUMENT 

9 Despite the fact that Defendant admitted to many of the matters to which C  

10 testified took place over the course of the several days at issue, the Nevada Supreme Court 

11 determined that there was insufficient evidence to sustain many of the charges. Nevertheless, 

12 the State submits that this Court should still adjudicate Defendant guilty as a large habitual 

13 criminal and sentence him to life in prison without the possibility of parole for the reasons set 

14 forth herein. 

15 L 

16 DEFENDANT'S CRIMINAL HISTORY 

17 El Paso Forgery Convictions 

18 Defendant was convicted ofForgery ofFinancial Instruments in Case Nos. 970D06614 

19 and 970D06615 out of El Paso, Texas in 1997. Defendant was originally afforded a grant of 

20 probation. On October 3, 2000, that probation was revoked (likely due to his being charged 

21 in Case No._ 980D4426) and the underlying sentence was imposed. 

22 Then, in Case No. 980D4426, Defendant was again convicted of Forgery of Financial 

23 Instruments. He was sentenced to 230 days concurrent to Case Nos. 9700D06614 and 

24 97D06615. 

25 Ill 

26 I I I 

27 I I I 

28 

6 
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El Paso Police Department Case No. 00-0761593 

On March 16, 2000, Officers responded to the Restitution Center in El Paso, Texas 

after being advised by the various complainants that Defendant intentionally exposed himself 

to them. Officers made contact with three (3) different complainants. 

Complainant 1 advised officers that on March 15, 2000, she went to the front of the 

Center to purchase· eye solution for her contacts around 8:00 p.m. While she waited for her 

items, Defendant approached her. Defendant was not wearing a shirt and had his zipper 

undone. He placed his hand inside of his pants. She left to notify her supervisor and when 

they returned he was gone. Then, on March 16, 2000, she was outside having a cigarette with 

the other two complainants. Defendant was outside and began making a lot of noise to get 

their attention. Then, he took a seat to the Northeast comer and unzipped his pants. He pulled 

out his penis and began to masturbate while looking in their direction. 

Complainant 2 advised officers that on March 15, 2000, she was waiting in the lobby 

to have her picture taken. Defendant sat across from her with his zipper undone and tried to 

expose himself. Then on March 16, 2000 she was outside with Complainants 1 and 3 when 

Defendant made loud noises to get their attention and began to masturbate. 

Complainant 3 corroborated Complainant's 2 statement regarding what happened on 

March 15, 2000 in the lobby. 

Defendant was charged with Indecent Exposure. 

El Paso Police Department Case No. 00-315331 

On November 10, 2000, Officers were dispatched to a call regarding an Indecent 

Exposure in progress. The Complainant advised officers that while she and her son were 

waiting for the bus to arrive, she left to use the restroom at a nearby Burger King. When she 

returned, she noticed Defendant speaking to her ten year old son. She noticed that the 

zipper to Defendant's pants were undone. Then, Defendant approached the right side of 

Complainant and her son and took his penis out of his pants exposing himself. He then turned 

to face them and began masturbating. Once police arrived, Complainant pointed Defendant 

3 Copies of the reports from the El Paso indecent exposure cases will be brought to Court for the Court's review but are 
not being filed as part of this brief as the entirety of the reports is not subject to disclosure pursuan to Texas state law. 

7 
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1 out as he was entering the bus. Officers made contact with Defendant and noted that the zipper 

2 to his pants was down. Defendant was placed under arrest and charged with Indecency with 

3 a Child/Exposure, a felony. That charge was dismissed upon motion of the State in 2017 due 

4 to the age of the case. 

5 El Paso Police Department Case No. 01-220087 

6 On August 8, 2001, Officers were dispatched to the Mesa Inn Hotel after an employee 

7 reported an Indecent Exposure. Upon their arrival, Officers contacted Veronica Guerrero who 

8 advised that she was employed at the Hotel as a housekeeper. On that date, she was 

9 approached by Defendant was working in one of the rooms. As Defendant was standing 

10 outside the room, he exposed his penis and asked her if she had any extra towels. Defendant 

11 then grabbed his penis and stood there for a few seconds masturbating. Guerrero called her 

12 manager and Defendant fled. A warrant was subsequently issued for Defendant's arrest for 

13 Indecent Exposure after police were unable to locate him to place him under arrest. 

14 Case No. C186418 - Convicted of Gross Misdemeanor Open & Gross Lewdness 

15 (See Arrest Report, attached hereto as "Exhibit l.") 

16 On July 31, 2002, officers with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department were 

17 dispatched to the McDonald's located at 1601 W. Charleston after reports that a male patron 

18 was staring at a ten year old Hispanic female child. When officers arrived, they made 

19 contact with several witnesses who reported seeing Defendant watching the young child with 

20 his pants undone, his genitals hanging out, and masturbating. At some point when the child 

21 left the dining area and went to the playground, he re-adjusted himself so that he could 

22 continue to masturbate while watching her. When officers made contact with Defendant his 

23 pants were still unzipped. Ultimately he was arrested for Open and Gross Lewdness and Ex-

24 Felon Failure to Register (a misdemeanor). Defendant was ultimately convicted after Jury 

25 Trial of Open and Gross Lewdness (gross misdemeanor) and in 2003, he was sentenced to 200 

26 days in CCDC with 175 days CTS. 

27 I I I 

28 

8 
W:\2013\2013F\080\07113F08007-MEMO-00I.DOCX 000251



1 Case No. C208956 - Dismissed without Prejudice (See Reports, attached hereto as 

2 "Exhibit 2. ") 

3 On May 5, 2004, Defendant was cited for Loitering about School and Ex-Felon Failure 

4 to Change Address after the Clark County School Police responded to Lowman Elementary 

5 School in response to information provided by the principal. The principal was advised by a 

6 parent that Defendant opened his pants and stroked his penis in front of her 14 year old 

7 daughter and 12 year old son on the CAT bus on April 22, 2004, and then on May 5, 2004 

8 Defendant was watching children at the playground through the school fence. Defendant was 

9 charged with Open or Gross Lewdness, but the case was ultimately dismissed without 

10 prejudice based upon an issue with the Marcum notice. 

11 Case No. C216699 - Convicted of Felony Open and Gross Lewdness (See Arrest 

12 Report attached hereto as "Exhibit 3. ") 

13 On October 18, 2005 Officer R. Gill of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 

14 was dispatched to the JC Penney store located at 3528 Maryland Parkway in reference to a 

15 male who was standing in the junior's clothing section with his penis out, masturbating. 

16 Clarissa Pickard was the original person reporting. Security Officers Sherman and Boyko 

17 confirmed it via closed circuit television. Defendant was arrested and booked on Open and 

18 Gross Lewdness, a felony. Defendant was convicted of the charge after Jury Trial in 2006 and 

19 sentenced to 19-48 months. 

20 08FN1701X - Denied in Screening (See Arrest Report, attached hereto as "Exhibit 

21 4.") 

22 Defendant was released from custody following his conviction in C216699 on July 10, 

23 2008. On July 30, 2008, L VMPD was contacted by Edwards Mini Storage at 5000 W. 

24 Cheyenne who advised that they believed Defendant was residing in one of their storage units. 

25 Officer Newcomb responded and attempted to contact Defendant but he was already gone. 

26 Newcomb called the State Sex Offender Registry and was told that Defendant had not yet 

27 registered as a Sex Offender. A little bit later Newcomb located Defendant and placed him 

28 under arrest for his failure to register as a Sex Offender. Defendant specifically told 

9 
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1 Newcomb, "I am protesting my registration!" Ultimately, the case was denied because the 

2 officer failed to submit additional information requested by the screening deputy. 

3 08F19304X - Denied in Screening (See Arrest Report, attached hereto as "Exhibit 5.") 

4 About a month and half later, Defendant was again arrested for Sex Offender Failure 

5 to Register. On September 15, 2008, Officers made contact with the manager at the Sunflower 

6 Apartment Complex on Fremont and learned that Defendant was living there since September 

7 8, 2008 but was still registered at 117 N. 9th Street. Again, charges were ultimately denied 

8 because officers failed to submit the additional information requested by the screening deputy. 

9 08F25351X- Denied in Screening (See Arrest Report, attached hereto as "Exhibit 6.") 

10 Then, on December 4, 2008, Defendant was again arrested for failing to register as a 

11 Sex Offender. Officers contacted Defendant at 1100 E. Fremont and learned that he was 

12 residing at the address in apartment 15 since December 1, 2008. He was registered to 

13 apartment 18. The case was denied in screening based upon prosecutorial discretion. 

14 Case No. C254530-Convicted of Gross Misdemeanor Open and Gross Lewdness 

15 (See Arrest Report, attached hereto as "Exhibit 7. ") 

16 On May 9, 2009, Officer B. Jones and Officer R. Voodre were dispatched to Treasure 

17 Island Hotel and Casino in reference to a male who touched a cocktail waitress inappropriately. 

18 Upon arrival, Officers made contact with Defendant who had been detained by hotel security. 

19 Additionally, they spoke with Marci Mellan, the waitress. According to Mellan, Defendant 

20 placed his hand on the small of her back and then slid it onto her buttock in a sexual manner. 

21 Additionally a week prior, Defendant aggressively grabbed her arm. Mellan notified security 

22 on both occasions. Defendant was charged with Open and Gross Lewdness, a felony but 

23 ultimately pied guilty to Open or Gross Lewdness, a Gross Misdemeanor and in 2010 was 

24 sentenced to 12 months in the Clark County Detention Center. 

25 C269318 - Convicted of Felony Open and Gross Lewdness (See Arrest Report, 

26 attached hereto as "Exhibit 8. ") 

27 On November 2, 2010, officers responded to the Bellagio Hotel and Casino and made 

28 contact with victims Connie Rim and Jenny Sentmanat-Martinez. They advised that at about 

10 
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1 11 :30 p.m., they were sitting in the slot area next to the poker room. Defendant was seated in 

2 the same bank and on the same side, with one open seat between Rim and Defendant. Rim 

3 had her back to Defendant and was facing Sentmanat-Martinez. Sentmanat-Martinez was 

4 facing Rim and Defendant. Sentmanat-Martinez indicated that while she was talking to Rim, 

5 Defendant removed his penis from his pants and began masturbating. She was so shocked that 

6 she told Rim to confirm what she saw. Rim turned and saw the same thing. The women got 

7 up to report the incident to security and Defendant began to walk away. When security tried 

8 to approach him he started to flee. 

9 

10 

11 
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28 

The officer watched surveillance and confirmed their reports. When the officer 

contacted Defendant in the security office, Defendant made several spontaneous statements to 

include that his actions were not illegal so long as the person complaining did not tell him that 

they were offended. Another comment was that his penis was so impressive that no one would 

complain about seeing it. 

Defendant was arrested and charged with Open and Gross Lewdness, a felony. 

Defendant pied guilty to the charge and in 2012 was sentenced to 14-36 months in the Nevada 

Department of Corrections. The Psychosexual Evaluation in that case indicates that 

Defendant "is an overall High Risk for sexual recidivism, which indicates that he does 

not present as safe and amendable to treatment in the community under the supervision 

of the State at this time." Furthermore, the author of that report noted that Defendant was in 

denial about his prior sexual convictions and did not take accountability for his actions, nor 

did he exhibit a willingness to engage in treatment. 

I. 
A LIFE SENTENCE IN THE INST ANT CASE IS PROPER. 

A life sentence in the instant case is not cruel and unusual. When considering whether 

a sentence is cruel and unusual, this Court has held that the Eighth Amendment of the United 

States Constitution "forbids [an] extreme sentence[] that [is] 'grossly disproportionate' to the 

crime." Despite its harshness, "[a] sentence within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual 

punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so 
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unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience. "'Allred v. State, 120 

Nev. 410,420, 92 P.3d 1246, 1253 (2004), overruled on other grounds by Knipes v. State, 124 

Nev. Adv. Rep. 79, 192 P.3d 1178 (2008) (citations omitted). 

Furthermore, "A district court is vested with wide discretion regarding sentencing" and 

will only be reversed "if [the sentence] is supported solely by impalpable and highly suspect 

evidence." Denson v. State, 112 Nev. 489, 492, 915 P.2d 284, 286 (1996) (citing Renard v. 

State, 94 Nev. 368, 369, 580 P.2d 470, 471 (1978); Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 

1159, 1161 (1976)). In rendering its sentence, the district court may "consider a wide, largely 

unlimited variety of information to insure that the punishment fits not only the crime, but also 

the individual defendant." Martinez v. State, 114 Nev. 735, 738, 961 P.2d 143, 145 (1998). 

The purpose of this discretion is to allow the Sentencing Judge to consider all information 

when determining a suitable punishment that fits both the crime committed and the individual 

who committed that crime. Id. A Sentencing Judge may consider, for example, prior felony 

convictions and any underlying charges that were ultimately dismissed in the case in 

question. See id. Furthermore, "[J]udges spend much of their professional lives separating 

the wheat from the chaff and have extensive experience in sentencing, along with the legal 

training necessary to determine an appropriate sentence." Randell v. State, 109 Nev. 5, 7, 846 

P.2d 278,280 (1993) (quoting People v. Mockel, 226 Cal.App.3d 581,276 Cal.Rptr. 559, 563 

(1990)). 

In Sims v. State, 107 Nev. 438 (1991), the defendant was convicted of Grand Larceny 

for unlawfully taking a purse and wallet containing $476.00. On appeal, Sims challenged the 

Court's decision to adjudicate him as a habitual criminal and sentence him to Life without the 

Possibility of Parole. In particular, he argued that the sentence was "disproportionate to the 

gravity of the underlying offense and his prior criminal history, and that the 

sentence ... constituted a violation of the Eighth Amendment's proscription against cruel and 

unusual punishment." The Supreme Court upheld the sentence and noted, 

The district judge, who is far more familiar with Sims' criminal background and 
attitude than the members of this court sentenced Sims within the parameters of 
Nevada law. Although we may very well have imposed a different, more lenient 
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sentence, we do not view the proper role of this court to be that of an appellate 
sentencing body. Moreover, because the Legislature has determined the 
sentencing limitations and alternatives that our district courts may impose on 
criminals who habitually offend society's laws, we deem it presumptively 
improper for this court to superimpose its own views on sentences of 
incarceration lawfully pronounced by our sentencing judges. 

This Court should considered Defendant's previous criminal conduct that has stretched 

over the course of nearly two decades, his failure to rectify his behavior, and the increasing 

harm posed by Defendant as exhibited by his conduct in this case, as well as the potential harm 

caused by a repeated sexual offender/predator such as Defendant Pigeon continuously failing 

to register as a sexual offender, and impose a sentence within the statutory guidelines. 

More specifically, Defendant's first felony conviction was acquired in 1997 when he 

was convicted of forgery. That was followed by another felony conviction for Forgery for 

which he was arrested in 1998 and convicted in 2000. Then, from 2000-2013, he was arrested 

and charged with Open and Gross Lewdness and/or Indecent Exposure eight (8) separate 

times, excluding the present case. In at least 3 of those cases, he masturbated while staring 

at small children, and in a fourth he was masturbating in the Juniors' section of a 

department store. Furthermore, records indicate that he was also charged with similar 

conduct in Pennsylvania, but the State is unaware of the disposition of those charges. Of the 

five (5) Open and Gross Lewdness cases Defendant has amassed since moving to Las Vegas, 

two resulted in felony convictions- one in 2006 and one in 2012. He was convicted of Gross 

Misdemeanor Open and Gross Lewdness in two of those cases- one in 2003 and one in 2010. 

In his most recent felony case prior to the present case, as well as in the current 

case, Defendant was deemed to represent a high risk of reoffending. His conduct has 

grown progressively worse, and in this case Pigeon was actively trying to engage a 12 year 

old girl in a romantic relationship. His efforts were only thwarted because an observant store 

clerk noticed Defendant's suspicious behavior and alerted authorities. By his own admissions 

at trial, Defendant believed the 12-year old C.C. was a "nice specimen" and he still desired a 

relationship with her. In fact, even after having been found guilty in this case, Defendant sent 

her a card. 
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In sum, it is evident from his prior conduct as well as the present case that Defendant 

sees nothing wrohg with the behavior he continues to engage in. Consequently, there is no 

impetus for him to reform himself. Additionally, he has exhibited that he has no regard for 

the law and does not feel as though he should have to abide by it. That is reflected not only in 

his Open and Gross conduct, but in his repeated failures to register as a sex offender. In 

particular, in Case No. 08FN1701X, he stated to the officer, "I'm protesting my registration!" 

It is also apparent, by the fact that he has never remained out of custody for any significant 

period of time before being arrested for additional crimes (See the PSI on file herein), that if 

released he will continue to victimize whichever community in which he resides. 

Defendants' predilection for engaging in sexually deviant behavior coupled with his 

unwillingness to register as a sex offender, Defendant poses further danger to the community 

as the public is not aware of his presence, nor are law enforcement officers capable of 

monitoring him. Thus, the goal of sex offender registration laws is defeated. 

In light of his criminal history and his escalating behavior, the State respectfully 

submits that adjudication as a habitual criminal is proper, and that a sentence of Life Without 

the Possibility of Parole is still warranted. 

CONCLUSION 

In light of the foregoing, the State respectfully submit that this Court should adjudicated 

Defendant guilty under NRS 207.010 as a large habitual criminal and sentence him to Life 

Without the Possibility of Parole. 

DATED this 29th day of March, 2018. 

Respectfully submitted, 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001 

Bc:::-~..,...,,.,,,.....==,..,....,...--.,,=;-'n"r~,_.--------

Nev 
tt om e y 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 30th day of 

March, 2018, by depositing a copy in the U.S. Mail, postage pre-paid, addressed to: 

CHRISTOPHER PIGEON 
ELY STATE PRISON 
4569 NORTH STATE, RT 490 
ELY, NV 89301 

BY icuPa.J~ 
_,,E~.~D~E~L-P~AD~RE~-----

Secretary for the District Attorney's Office 

28 EAM/em/GCU 
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□city 0county (!]Adult □Juvenile SectorfBeat 

)/EVENT# ARRESTEE'S NAME (Last, First, Mlddle) S.S.# 

I . 1694872 PIGE9~ •. ~_H_R_IS_T_OP_H_E_R_E_. _________________ __,_ 

~RRESTEE'S ADDRESS (Number, Street, City, State, Zip Code) 

----· --------------------··---····-···--·--·----
;HARGES: OPEN AN6° GROSS LEWDNESS 

EX-FELON FAILURE TO CHANGE ADDRESS 
---- I •• 

)CCURRED: DATE : DAY OF WEEK 

UCE I SEX D.O.B. HT 

W M 08/31/62 5'11 

CIRCUMSTANCES OF ARREST 

OFFICERS INVOLVED: 

-DETAILS: 

WT 
165 

TIME 

-----'--·· 

LOCATION OF ARREST (Number, Street, City, State, Zip Code) 

1601 W CHARLESTON, LV, NV 

HAIR EYES PLACE OF BIRTH 

BRO BRO 

Officer V. Williams, P#4846 

Officer R. Johnson, P#6226, 

Officer J. Turchetta, P#5441 

Officer K. Kartchner, P#6332 

I, ·officerV. ·Williams, P#4846, Officer R. Johnson, P#6226, Officer J. Turchetta, P#5441, 

and Officer K. Kartchner, P#6332, while on marked patrol, responded to an indecent 

exposure call at-1601 w·charleston, at McDonald,s. 

Upon arrival, we made e:ontactwith a white male adult, identified as Pigeon, Christopher, 

ID/ 1694872, who had been observed by employees at the McDonald's restaurant staring 

at a hispanic female juvenile (ten years of age), who was identified as ..... , , DOB/ 

11/JAl91. . · . , is the' daughter of the manager of McDonald's-who was seated 

in"- ttle reetaurant area at that ·time,· at approximately··0900 ·hours: 

The witnesses stated that they did observe Pigeon watching the. child and .it was also 

observed that the subject, Pigeon, did have the zipper of his pants undone-where you 

could see his genitals. The subject Pigeon was also groping and masturbating himself 

while watching the child. Witnesses stated that when . left the main restaurant 

. · area and proceeded to the playground area, Pigeon gathered his belongings and re-seated 

himself so that he could view the child while she was playing. He continued his open and 

gross behavior. 

Upon our contact, Officer R. Johnson, P#6226, and Officer J. Turchetto, P#5441, made 

initial contact with Pigeon. It was observed that his zipper 011 his pants were unzipped; and 

the subject stated that he was doing nothing wrong at that time. 

Officer Kartchner then proceeded to interview the witnesses-where voluntary statements 

were taken. The mother of the juvenile, identified as L Cordero, did observe the 

__ AR~:~TING __ OFFICe.~.(~!__ ___ _j __ ~ ___ J 
. V. WILLIAMS j 4846 ! 

I I 
···-- ·1. - ! 

I ! 

LVMPD 602 (REV. 12-90) • AUTOMATED 

APPROVED BY 

Lt. Juanita Goode 7-31-
02@1750HOURS 

CONNECTING RPTS. (Type or Event Number) 

EVENT# 020731-0784 
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

CONTINUATION REPORT 

)/Event Number: 1694872 

situation and she stated that she did watch Pigeon staring at her daughter, repositioning 

himself. He also had his hand in his groin area and has placed his legs up where you 

could see his genitalia exposed. 

Page 2 of2 

Another witness, by the name of L. Contrera, an employee of McDonald's, also stated 

that she had observed Pigeon in the restaurant the day before (on 07/30/02) at 

approximately 0900 hours; and that he had exposed himself to her on that day. Upon 

myself speaking with . , the juvenile stated that she had seen Pigeon staring 

at her, but she did not observe any open and gross lewdness or behavior at that time. The 

other witnesses that were employees of McDonald's stated thatthey had observed him and 

that he did expose himself and masturbated and groped himself. 

Upon records check, it was indicated that the subject, Pigeon, had- an address listed in 

SCOPE, of The Salvation Army, located at 53 Owens. When the subject was asked where 

he .lived, he indicated that for the last four months he had lived at 1130 S Casino Center 

#5, 

Pigeon was in Failure to Change.Address, Ex-Felon Status; had been registered as a felon 

from Texas for Forgery charges. Records check also indicated that he had several 

. outstanding Traffic warrants for his arrest. Upon Triple I, it had also indicated that the 

subject had been arrested for Indecent Exposure, and dismissed on 03/17/00; also had 

Felony Three Indecent with a Child arrest on 11/10/00, which was dismissed on Q5/02/01 

(out of Texas). He has an NCIC Warrant out of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania for Indecent 

l;xposure. P~nnsylvania would not extradite for this warrant that is still outstanding. 

The subject was Mirandized, taken into custody, transported to CCDC, and booked 

accordingly for Open and Gross Lewdness;. Ex-Felon Failure to Change Address within 48 

Hours, and Five Justice Court Bench Warrants for Traffic Citations. · 

VW/rak 7693 (Records) 
Job #103913 
Date & Time Dictated: 07 /31 /02 1154 hours 

Date & Time Transcribed: 07/31/02 1652 hours 

cc: Officer V. Williams, P#4846, SWAG 
Officer R. Johnson, P#6226, SWAC 
Officer J. Turchetta, P#5441, SWAC 
Officer K. Kartchner, P#6332, SWAC 
Sexual Assault. 
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. . '7 CLARK c· ITY SCHOOL DISTRIC"r POLICE DEPARTMEf'. 
Pa9e '2._ of~ ._.- INCIDENT REPORT ...,,,, 

.... ,...;;.------.--~=-,,-----,-,---"" 
c11,d1Arr■1md Veh.# . ~::;~ '!3ma(L,1t,f.r,t;l.lit!dla) 

Cited Yes□ Noigj Pi eon, ChrJStopher, Edward 
AG• o, DOB Soc.,al curity # Rae,, SOI( ,L I W.. H•ir 

08i3 l/62 I \Vhite Male 5' 11 '' 117 5 !Brn 

Jue shorts,Grey Sleeveless T-Sbirt,soeakers, •lasses 
Statement 
Obtained? 

YesO NoO 

Cly 
I Slate 

Las Vegas :NV 
Citafo.1 # 

03284710 

McrJterr 

IJonblli 

Cki;tlpation 

L"nemployed 

cc.ucet10r 

Ilsa. llorul; 

Buslr.ess Phone Ex!. 

N•mitlw must h po,:ndlo!od Explain sglvabilily r■ctora: 

On 05/05/04 at approx. 09 I 5hrs. I received a caJI from Dispatch directing me to Lowman Elementary School in reference to 
a subject ofa past lewdness crime on School property. 

Upon arrival at4225 N. Lamont st., I was approached by 1he assistant principal who was infonned by a parent of seeing a white 
male who had opened his pants and was stroking his penis in front ofber 14 yr. old daughter and 12 yr. old son while on the C.A.T 
Bus #113 on 4/22/04, (see statement attached) now peeping lhrough s,:hool fence at Children in playgrour,d while dropping her son 
off to School at Lowman's Elementary. 

While conducting an immediate canvass of area, in direction of flight, suspect was seen sitting at Bus Stop bench on Las Vegas 
Blvd and Lamont st. After conducting my common right of inquiry into his conduct, suspect proc.uced nlid identification which 
was verified by Dispatch through N.C.I.C and S.C.O.P.E and returned us a registered Felon, public lewdness priors, and an 
active warrant from Pennsylvania. When asked, why was he looking through fence at children? subject replied, '' I crossed the 
stret;t and was just looking, not bothering anyone, you are Clark Count)' Police, why are you asking me questions?'' 

Citation #03284710 was issued for, "Loitering About School," under N.R.S 207.270 code 5714 and ''Failure to change address," 
as a registered Ex-Felon as required by Jaw under N.R.S 207.100 code 5707, at which time la~-t registered address was given as 35 
West Owens and not the current address of 430C Lamont st. #260 Las Vegas NV 89115. Pennsylvania failed to request extradition 
as notified by dispatch. 
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·CLARK· "JNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT POLICED RTMEl'IIT 

._., STATEMENT REPOR"'( 
FOR OFFICIAL POLICE USE ONLY 

CHECK ONE: =iVICT/M WITNESS 
Localio~ 1)11 nclde,t (1"-11,rrber & Street) 

UlJH 12lEJ\f\ 

Ftace 

Business/School Address: \Nu"Tiber & Slreet) 

& 'Nalv,,r bBlow must be completed 

<>.es. PMO-,e 

Bus. c'lOne: 

0CCtJ~31ion: 

ext. 
o c::;so Empcoyee 
.:i Student 

WAFINING: BEFORE YOU ARE ASKED ANY QUESTIONS, YOU MUST UNDERSTAND YOUl:t RIGHTS 
I am, ________________ _ of the Clark County Sc::iool District Police Department and infarn-, you that: 

1 • Yo~ t .ave the rignt to rema;n silen I. 
2. Anythlrg you say can and wi11 be usoo a 

cf law. 
3. You have the right to speak 

t-er present with )'OU u are balng qi;asti:Jned. 
4. It you cannot af.o• • hire an attorney, one will be 

appointed to resent you before any queSlio-iiog, if y:,u 
wish on 

• You have 1he rl~ to ha\'B y~r parent or guardian present 
durlnlj questlonlrg. 

6.__,~----"-----'F-'~-±.":c-4-~~~...,,,:.:u,.,J..-!,.,.....~J...."!:"--~~ ...... 

6. Anything you say can and will be used ageinst you W1 Jw 
Coin. 

7. (Jf 16 years or older and a:cused of a felony ma11 be 

W"IVEP.: 1 . 
2. 

certified as an adur. and tried in /,dull nal Co~rt. Any 
statement you mal(e can and will. sed against you in .M111t 
Court. / 
I undera'!aid ~h of lh_JJ,e'rights -:IS exclained to me. 
Having1hese righ~•miria. I wish to maka a 1>1awm8nt 
toyounow. / 

Slgnatur& 

7.:::-l~V-µ1=--.....;1~-~-L~:-<-:~~~~~~~~,i,:,,:i~..U,!C~-. ... ..;-p.~....&...J,.....+D:;:::.;t--.t..=.U::::~,.,L.__Jl::c::h,.~!.:li-"'""-..,..:L-.p._u;;;:;.__ 
6.4-,._.....t..:s:~::-"=c+J.At~~--f::-....::...--6;..c;;;....c,,,.i'---=-:µ>-l---\,U..U:~.d~+µ!,,::::...s;~LJ.JL.L~.=:---1...!...J~~~~o!..._--=----
g_--=~-"":"-',,.._.,~~~==-"""'"'::::::::!;;;f-4--~;-c=-~~~ . L 
10. ~('-~~~, ~ 
11. -fc-1=:,:l-~,..-.~!~!'-"-~-!Ji!!-'--+-=;:::L...-.....:l>,.l....!:..-:--i.-.~~IC:::,,,A,._,.U..l:c'-":-:.;J,-,J\:.~~!,,..,,~L.Ji,p~-'~.......,:--...--... ........ --
12. +,a~:::..,.,i;:;;;..'!'---..:=.=!1.,=>,-;.i,~1<..!.4__.:s:.~.-t,...U.-C,,,.8-~ 

;3_ ---'-4-.Jlr'--_,.,......,,c.,,µ.--..,_:a~~-_,.__'-"------------------------==-__,,_=-------
14. --------------------------------::""""-==:....------------
15. -----------------------,------::,;-=::...._ ________________ _ 
16. ----------------------,f.~-,:'---------------------------
17. ----------------,,,,....-,,;;;;._ __ ---'-___________________________ _ 

Gity Time 24 HR. 

i/4;~ ~f J - '1") 

GlsC 4B5a 

000265



000266



Deity (!]county 

LAS VEGASARRESTiE~OR~ARTMENT /1)) f l O(()' q (j, y I 1 
[!J Adult D Juvenile Sector/Beat H2 

ID/EVENT# 

1694872 

ARRESTEE'S NAME (Last, First, Middle) S.S.# 

PIGEON, CHRISTOPHER __ -···-· __________________ --·-····----- ·-··-· __ _ 

ARRESTEE'S ADDRESS (Number, Street, City, State, Zip Code) 

4300_NORTH LAMONT, #260, LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89110 ______ . _____________________________ _ 

CHARGES: OPEN AND GROSS LEWDNESS, SECOND OFFENSE 

OCCURRED: ---
1
~~:/~

5 
r DA;u~:::vEK ·1 

17
~~M:RS T~~~~:~~~~~~:~~~~~~;r~:~:~: ~:~A~:t:~~: Code) ··--· --

··--··-· --··-··-·T-·---_J_· ··----·----,---···l~.-- ····--- --· --·------·----- -- ----·····---

RA~E s:x 0~;~~:·2 5,~~" : I ~:~ ~~; A~~:i~ ~:!'~~:K 

·-

CIRCUMSTANCES OF ARREST 

OFFICERS INVOLVED: 

VICTIMS: 

DETAILS: 

Officer R. Gill, P#6237 

Clarissa Pickard 
Chris Sherman 
Jonathan Boyko 

On October 18, 2005, I, Officer R. Gill, P#6237, while operating as marked patrol unit 3K1, 

responded to 3528 Maryland Parkway, reference a male who was exposing his penis and 

masturbating in the junior's clothing section at JCPenney retail store at the Boulevard Mall. 

The first victim, Clarissa Pickard, said that she saw the suspect, Christopher Pigeon, with 

his penis out of his pants and in his hand, and he was stroking it, masturbating in an area 

open to the public. The second and third victims, Chris Sherman and Jonathan Boyko, 

said that they observed Pigeon via closed circuit television from the security office doing 

the same thing that Pickard reported. 

In a records check of Pigeon, I learned that he had a previous conviction for open and 

gross lewdness on 01/06/03 stemming from an arrest on 07/31/02. Pigeon also had a 

second arrest for the same charge, but with a dismissal on 12/26/04. Due to the first 

conviction of gross misdemeanor for open and gross lewdness, and the facts presented 

today, Pigeon was booked into Clark County Detention Center for open and gross 

lewdness second offense, a felony. 

RG/lkt (Records) 
Job #29958 
Date & Time Dictated: 10/18/05 2344 hours 

Date & Time Transcribed: 10/19/05 0728 hours 

ARRESTING OFFICER(S) P# APPROVED BY 
-- ------ -----·· ----

R. GILL 6237 C. Klatt, Lt. 

CONNECTING RPTS. (Type or Event Number) 

051018-2265 

··-··--··- -·--·--··---t--·-·-

LVMPD 802 (REV. 12-90) • AUTOMATED 
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' 

LMVICIMlll111UiiOLffANPOLa~MIIIINT / 2-~·. 
Page_ot__ DECLARATIONOFARREST 1.0.#: r69J'£7 :-
TrueName: H6€fJNI {)+tlrSfoFth:YL DateofArrest: t.f3oq1 Time of Arrest: /0£°0 · ' 

. ,O"naCHMUIRKDl■--l'alCClelaDaA'"WJN: l 
THE UNOERSIONm WAKES THE FOU.OWINB DECLARATIONS SUBJECT ro THE PENALlY FOR PERJURY AND SAYS: TI1et 1.-.. • pe■c■ a111cer.., LV/f/Jf IJ c~. an 

· County,....-, lla,g to ...__tor• PMOd a1-tL v-w....,._), Tllllt I •meet .. ~'-and circumlllncN~ IAd .,,.lo.,__hllhll ..,..,_..,_.carrmlbd (Cir 

~ 1o ~ ISfc."'i'L ~ ' 'I Al,/ (!,O,,,,,,. r, · -COl/ffflll.'itrltrt,.,..d1[~~WlQ[c::tJ.!f;j(rffeM?..1'L-r,,./t, UIIIOc9licnal .5l)OO Jv. ~~l,C c..- ,,, 47fVCJ 
1 MlOREtiS CITY/ IITATE / llP) 

IWIOfllllllallllllHOCUll'9d•UPP. .... iiilllly /1.SV houlaar. .. _.l2..CllyOI y"(L--r . ~ . kll1eeo1~al □ 011111 o,Al.CiyalLDVegll.NV . 

................. ---= 

~ At--tU"~ klf:r ~ OXf/lE,,>(. A 7?t"'GJ>rf..t)S c«t;;JL. 9 "ftu>M /Al~.o,..J 

r~, oc"O ft:/ :lVrfE:, St/Ov.ki) C#,t.f tro/tfat- P, t; RQN I 1P /t4? &J lMJ 7-i- w,n./-
. D8fi Cf 8,fLTI/: of '31 ro2-

1 
wA;s: 4 {aAlvt aro ~ tr-Ft?J.ltlcfL. A<;;eQN' w'.4-f 

~,Jv, aro ef: c>3''2S-Qb c£: ~ ~ tw" Gas.r ~sw 1mV~1:1 #ti 
~ A- c.+u.. ,-vro S>Mf:Set: ~o'1'2... ~rSf/1.Y /111/J IU-£7l1U} /lfi.,::c,v 

) 

:7P R~cJ1aL Wtttf: 'Tl~ dN4 Adf'(/1-c':) lf:f /1- U4!0cn--» Sqe ff~, 

Ba@,J U,~y 1/J@tfitl:' lf,A,,Sr.M; 1 (Ou:> !hM ~ ~11S t,M,ll?: .f&w:'1 
&-: liiwM 1i Rt:2i<s:rr,1.. 1s A·-57ex ~, ftG~~~~'@J~:~ · .· ... , .. ,. 

(~'f'/J..ATtd,,,j fr _ 1<:Y) ~~eoffen r '!ft ._ 7iJ --t~,: 
Wherefore, Declalant lhlll • ftndng be made by a maglltrate lhat probable cause exlall lo hold Mid person fat prellminlJy ~JI hrgeg:8111 a felony or 

· grou rnllda'wnor) or fof trial (If cha1'ges are a mledemeanor). 

P# 
(IJ GNQIW. -OOUIII' 000269



' 

LAI VICMa EIMN'OwiM POUCI DIPMl'IIINT / 2- " 
Page_of__ DECLARA110NOFARREST I.D.#: r69'/2i ' 

~ /',, ,,.... ~ ~,~ . -o 
True Name: D 6. fON I kt!!<: 1 S1"on I c, c_ Date of Arrest ...... ~-1---~- Time of Arrest: /()5, • 

I cmaw • m,mCX111W1iaM11DN: 

,-,{e IJHIIERSIONBJ MAIWi THE FOLLOWINO DECLARATIONS SUIIJECTTOTHE PENAL1Y FOR PERJURY NfO SAYS: Thal I am ■ ,-c,e c,11..,lllilh LV/Vff IJ l~J. Cllrk 

~ncy. ~ 1111ng m ~tar■ P9'IOd o1 J / v■n.,..,_,_ Thal 11■amec1 lhe 1111aww1g l■i:19 ■nd cmmsaanc.. which lead 11111 io blliaw "■t lllt ,boven■INII lllbjecl oamm1111e11 <or 
_Cf1fffflfl/r4)r.~o1€](fi;Lo.vtlWICl[ct>Sf;}(~F-11c., 7o '!!!~?L ,,:SPa? W-~ w,r✓ lo/103 

• I~ alYISTATE/Zlr) 

■ncllh■llheaner-accund•appro,oi,1-■1, /~..!,i'V halnon .. ....l:2..oaro1 .;Tt,,(L!f ~ , lnlleCOldJal CC!ait< o,-.C~ollav.g.■, NY. 

llftMl,aRPIIDU&ICAUa: 

- I , 

H:1& k-lU"9( µpr~ ~/l.E,>(. A J?~(QHt.-l)S: Dkal.j rfU>M //11~.o~ 

_, .. rw, .oc"'O fA/ :htrff:, s~ CtM-f S'(o,'rfaL f, ' ft)IV /1) / lfR 'f 'f-6 72- /,VI r,.f.. 
I ' 

Pb[ lf 811t.-T'f: of3t fo2.I t.vM 4- (a,Jvuxro ~ fJ:-h:J.Ud'L. 6<s:&J w::1-5' 

CJtJ,Jv, at'O ef: C,"3'2.fs"Qb C1f: ~ CfeN /JN(J ~.Y ~s (Q Ms Vifi.+s ,¾. 

f4r.Ep A- Clru, ,AJ-ro S!A:Ctf:.Ss¥ ~on. ~1srAy I'll(() J114S7iUJ /1trn:J/\J 

RawJ w.,-#ttu.y 1l)(N[1nc?rJ lf&S<U; 1 1ow lltM ~ w,'IS t-MJct?: 1'Mfr1 
fCott- MwM 7i @§<S:r~ lb A- -57ey cftf..~, ftoftW .§f~r?f) 

11
1 AM 

fll-6..,..~1,Alt, Mf f;fG cS-f"/wtTtdN !' fiGP)N l>ffl /KzllB1<;Y] u:;.wae~~TP2<~-·-t.~c.~ 
Wherefore, Declarant prays llal a frdlng be made by a nagiltrate that probable caUH axilltll ID hold Mid ~11ti~ait41t hH11mJiffl:dla"1n.-!1'8 ~~ or 
gross mltdlmeanor) or for 1rlal (If charoes are• mlSdernNnor). · '~ 

JUL 3 

• 
Cit CIIIIIW.-COUIIT 
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

DECLARATION OF ARREST 

ID#: 1694872 EVENT: 0809151287 

TRUE NAME~ DATE OF ARREST: TIME OF ARREST: 

PIGEON, CHRISTOPHER 09-15-08 1045 

OTHER CHARGES RECOMMENDED FOR CONSIDERATION: 

THE UNDERSIGNED MAKES THE FOLLOWING DECLARATIONS SUBJECT TO THE PENAL TY FOR PERJURY AND 
SAYS: That I am a peace officer with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, Clark County, 
Nevada, being so employed for a period of 16 MONTHS. 

That I learned the following facts and circumstances which lead me to believe that PIGEON, 
CHRISTOPHER committed (or was committing) the offense of SEX OFFENDER FAIL TO 
CHANGE ADDRESS at the location of 1500 FREMONT LV, NV 89101. 

That the offense occurred at approximately 1040 hours on the 15 day of SEPTEMBER, 2008. 

ON 09-15-08 AT APPROXIMATELY 1040 HRS, I OFFICER R.VOODRE P#10042AND OFFICER 
B.ZLATEFF P#9186, WHILE OPERATING AS MARKED BIKE PATROL UNIT2AB DISCOVERED 
A SEX OFFENDER WHO FAILED TO CHANGE HIS ADDRESS AT 1500 FREMONT APT120 
WHILE CHECKING IDLS. 

1 OFFICERS MADE CONTACT WITH THE MANAGER AT THE SUNFLOWER APARTMENT 
COMPLEX WHO STATED C. PIGEON HAS BEEN A RESIDENT OF THE COMPLEX SINCE 09-
08-08. A RECORDS CHECK OF C. PIGEON SHOWS HE IS A REGISTERED SEX OFFENDER 
FOR OPEN/GROSS LEWDNESS, WHICH IS A FELONY, AND SHOWS A REGISTERED 
ADDRESSOF117N.9THSTLV,NV89101ASOF08-08-08.OFFICERSMADECONTACTWITH 
C. PIGEON IN ROOM 120, WHO IDENTIFIED HIMSELF VERBALLY. C. PIGEON STATED HE 
HAS BEEN BUSY AND DIDN'T HAVE THE TIME TO CHANGE HIS ADDRESS. C. PIGEON 
STATED HE WAS JUST ARRESTED THREE WEEKS AGO FOR FAILURE TO CHANGE 
ADDRESS, WHICH WAS VERIFIED IN SCOPE, WHICH SHOWS A ARREST DATE OF 07-30-08. 
C. PIGEON HAD ONE WEEK TO CHANGE HIS ADDRESS AND DID NOT HAVE A VALID 
REASON HE DID NOT CHANGE HIS ADDRESS WITHIN 48 HOURS. 

BASED ON THE ABOVE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES, C. PIGEON WAS PLACED UNDER 
ARREST FOR SEX OFFENDER FAILURE TO CHANGE ADDRESS AND TRANSPORTED TO 
CCDC WHERE HE WAS BOOKED ACCORDINGLY. 

L'IIMPD374 (Rw. 2/00) • AUTOMATEO/WP12 

UNI.AWFUL !JISSEMINA TION of this restricted 
infonnatt0n is PROHIBITED. Violation will 

subject the offender to Criminal 3nd Ci11i' liability. 

SEP 16 20D8 
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~0#: 1694872 

lAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 
DECLARATION OF ARREST CONTINUATION 

- Page 2 

EVENT: 0809151287 

Wherefore, Declarant prays that a finding be made by a magistrate that probable cause exists to hold said person for preliminary hearing (if charges are a felony or gross misdemeanor) or for trial (if charges are misdemeanor). 

Declarant 

LVMPD37◄ (Rev, 2IDO I· AUT0MATEDJWP12 

-~----i7(1gf1'1?r-
R.VOODRE P#10042 

UNI.AWFUL DISSEMINATION ot'trns~ 
lnfonnat1on Is PROHIBITED. Violation will 

aubject the offender to Criminal and Civil liability. 

SEP 16 2008 

Released to Oftlltt O'ou[!ty Dl'\'s OFFIGE. 
lat;~~~ ~~,-nt 

pY, 69826() "' 
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

DECLARATION OF ARREST 

ID#: 1694872 EVENT: 081204-1030 

TRUE NAME: DATE OF ARREST: TIME OF ARREST: 

PIGEON, CHRISTOPHER 12/04/2008 0815 

OTHER CHARGES RECOMMENDED FOR CONSIDERATION: 

THE UNDERSIGNED MAKES THE FOLLOWING DECLARATIONS SUBJECT TO THE PENAL TY FOR PERJURY AND. 

SAYS: That I am a peace officer with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, Clark County, 
Nevada, being so employed for a period of 20 years. 

That I learned the following facts and circumstances which lead me to believe that PIGEON, 
- CHRISTOPHER committed (or was committing) the offense of Convicted Sex Offender Failure to 

Change Address at the location of 1100 E. Fremont Apt. # 18 Las Vegas NV 89101. 

That the offense occurred at approximately 0815 hours on the 4th day of December, 2008. 

On December 4th 2008 at approximately 0815 hrs. Detective P. Szegedi P# 8295 and I Detective 
J. Montoya P# 3501 operating as SC73 arrived at 1100 E. Fremont to assist 2A55, Officer R. Bilyeu 
P# 7524 and 2C22, Officer R. Rodriguez P# 8929, who had come into contact with a white male 
adult who identified himself verbally as Christopher Pigeon, DOB 8-31-1962, SS# 

Christopher Pigeon is a two time convicted Sex Offender for Open/Gross Lewdness out of the 
State of Nevada, in 2006 and in 2003. A records check shows Pigeon Is registered as residing at 
1100 E. Fremont Apt# 18 since 09/26/08. However, Pigeon was residing at Apt.# 15 at this same 
address since 12/01/2008. This was confirmed by Norma Andaluz who is the manager at the 1100 
East Fremont Street address. 

Due to the fact Pigeon was living at Apt. #15 since December 1, 2008 and we came into contact 
with him on December 4, 2008, he was arrested for Convicted Sex Offender Failure to Change 
address within the 48 hours allotted by law. 

Pigeon has numerous priors for Ex Felon Failure to Change Address and Sex Offender Failure to 
Change Address among other arrests. He was uncooperative stating he did not have to register, 
that we were j~st harassing. him and that he Is not ~ ~ex ~~end~r. On another occa~~,i~n• llij~. ~tricted 
had contact with patrol officers, where he was h1dmg/llvmg 1n ~. ,to~~-,~~r,~~-!l!Q ~~~-J\~1,sub· 
uncooperative with the officers stating he did not have to regist~r::-,, ·. \ .. _.;:_ · .. , ·_ •.•·.'>:~•:;-i :_.:.a·11·,.;.vJ cr~i, 1iab11ity. 

I',,,., ... ,.... . • ' ··• tU wfl(llifl a 
'1:·1c~ 'cl,·~ ·,..,i,/,:;~1"-~0, 

Christopher Pigeon was arrested for Convicted Sex Offender Fsnure to register NRS 179D.550. 
He was transported to CCDC and booked accordingly. OE.C O 4 '2MB 

LVMP037◄ (Rav. 2/00) • AlJTOMA TEDIWP12 

D~'s Orf ICE 
Released to Clar\< ~ounl1ice Department 

1..as Vegas Metia .--~--
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ID#: 1694872 

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 
DECLARATION OF ARREST CONTINUATION 

Page 2 

EVENT: 081204-1030 

Wherefore, Declarant prays that a finding be made by a magistrate that probable cause exists to 
hold said person for preliminary hearing (if charges are a felony or gross misdemeanor) or for trial 
(if charges are misdemeanor). 

Declarant ~~ ~N'fOYA r 

LVMP0374 (Rev. 2100) • AIJTOMATEO/WP12 
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT ~ ,: ~ v/ 
3 ARREST REPORT . 0 '? rO 'f ~ 7 71' 

□c,ty [[}county [!]Adult □Juvenile Sector/Beat M2 
ID/EVENT# I ARRESTEE'S NAME (Laat, Flrat, Middle) 

I S.S.# 1694872 PIGEON, CHRISTOPHER 
ARRESTEE'S ADDRESS (Number, Street, City, State, Zip Code) 

CHARGES: OPEN AND GROSS LEWDNESS, NRS 201.210 
OCCURRED: DATE I DAY OF WEEK I TIME I LOCATION OF ARREST (Number, Street, City; State, Zip Code) 05/09/09 SATURDAY 2130 HRS 3300 SOUTH LAS VEGAS BOULEVARD, LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, 89109 RACE I SEX I D.O.B. I 

M 08/31/62 
HT I WT I 

CIRCUMSTANCES OF ARREST 

OFFICERS INVOLVED: 

VICTIM: 

WITNESS:---

DETAILS: 

HAIR I EYES I PLACE OF BIRTH 

Officer B. Jones, P#9679, 7M3B 
Officer R. Voodre, P#10042, 7M3B 

Abbott, Al-Amin 
Treasure Island Security 

On May 9, 2009, at approximately 2110 hours, I, Officer B. Jones, P#9679, and Officer R. Voodre, P#10042, while operating as marked patrol unit 7M3B, responded to the Treasure Island at 3300 South Las Vegas Boulevard in reference to a male who had touched a cocktail waitress inappropriately. Upon arrival, the male, who was in security custody, identified himself verbally as Christopher Pigeon, date of birth 08/31/62, social security . A records check showed that Pigeon was a registered sex offender for two counts of open and gross lewdness from 2003 and 2006 in Nevada. I spoke with Mellan, , a cocktail waitress at the Treasure Island, who had stated that Pigeon had put his hand on the small of her back and slid it onto her buttock in a sexual manner. 

She then notified security and Pigeon was taken into custody by Security Officer Al-Amin Abbott. Melian stated she had previous contact with Pigeon on May 2, 2009, when he aggressively grabbed her arm before he was escorted off the property by security. While I had Pigeon on custody, I conducted a one-on-one and Melian confirmed that Pigeon was the same man she claimed touched her. Security footage shows a brief clip of Pigeon getting up from a slot machine and following Mellan off camera at 1937 hours. The video 

ARRESJ'ING OFFICER(S) P# APPROVED BY CONNECTING RPTS. (Type or Event Number) 
+++APPROVED+++ 090509-3258 B.JONES 8679 LT J Whitehead 34a7 REQUEST FOR PROSECUTION, WITNESS LIST, 05/10/09@ 1406 hrs TCR, DOA, ICR, TWO VOLUNTARY 

STATEMENTS 
LVMPO 602 (REV. 12-90) • AUTOMATED 
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

CONTINUATION REPORT 
ID/Event Number: 1694872 

did not show the actual incident as Pigeon walked out of range. Pigeon was transported 
to Clark County Detention Center and booked for felony open and gross lewdness based 
on his two prior convictions. 

BJ/dkj (Reports) 
Job#127177 
Date & Time Dictated: 05/10/09 0114 hours 
Date & Time Transcribed: 05/10/09 0709 hours 

Page 2 of 2 
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- VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTME-

ARRESf REPORT 
;• 

D~lty •~ [!] County [!] Adult D Juvenile Sector/Beat M/3 

ID~;;~~-1. A~~~~~~-•-~--~~~____ . _ PIGEON. C~~=~~:
1
e:l:d~:)___ _ __ _ _. _ _ __ · . __I ______ s_.s_.# ___ _ 

ARRESTEE'S ADDRESS (Number, Street, City, State, Zip Code) 
_ __ __ __ _ _ _ _ ____________ . _. 200 S 8TH ST, LAS VEGAS, _NV 89101 ___ . _____________ ·--------- _ 
CHARGES: 

OPEN AND GROSS LEWDNESS (2 COUNTS) NRS 201.210 
OCCURRED: DATE l DAY OF WEEK ·1 TIME I LOCATION OF ARREST (Number, Straet,-c-,ty-,-St-a-te-, Zl_p_C_od-e) ______ _ 

11-2-10 TUE J 2323 3600 S LAS VEGAS BLVD, LAS VEGAS, NV 89109 
RAWCE 1· SEX_l ___ o·.o.e. --r- HT--1 WT I HAIR--r EVES I ·-----PLACE OF BIRTH 

M 8-31-62 6'0" 165 BRO I BRO ALBANY, NY 
CIRCUMSTANCES OF ARREST 

OFFICERS INVOLVED: T. CRUMRINE #8881/ 1M49 

VICTIMS: Rim, Connie Haejung 

LV, NV89131 

Sentmanat-Martinez. Jennv 

LV, NV 89117 

PROPERTY IMPOUNDED: One VHS Surveillance tape from Bellaglo Hotel 
Impounded to LVMPD Evidence Vault 

On 11-2-1 O at approximately 2340 hours, I Officer T. Crumrine #8881 operating marked patrol unit 1 M49 was 
assigned to an indecent exposure call at Bellagio Hotel and Casino 3600 S Las Vegas Blvd,_Las Vegas, NV 
89109. Upon arrival at 2350 hours, I made contact with victims Rim, Connie and Sentmanat-Martinez, Jenny 
who stated that at approximately 2320 hours they were sitting in the slot area next to the poker room. Rim and 
Sentmanat-Martinez stated that a white male adult suspect (later identified as Pigeon, Christopher) was sitting 
at a slot machine in the same bank and on the same side, with one open seat between Rim and the suspect. 
Rim had her back to Pigeon and was facing Sentmanat-Martinez who was facing Rim and Pigeon. Sentmanat­
Martinez stated that while she was talking to Rim she observed Pigeon remove his penis from his pants and 
begin masturbating while looking at both Rim and Sentmanat-Martlnez. Sentmanat-Martinez stated that she 
was so shocked that she told Rim to tum around and look to confinn what she saw. Rim stated that she turned 
around and observed Pigeon holding his penis and masturbating. Sentmanat-Martinez and Rim got up and 
went to the poker room to summon security. Sentmanat-Martinez stated that Pigeon got up and began walking 
away, and that when security approached Pigeon he attempted to run before being detained by security. 

I then made contact with Bellagio Surveillance and viewed video which showed Sentmanat-Martinez, Rim and 
Pigeon sitting as described in the slot area at 2323 hours when Pigeon puts his hand in his crotch area for 
approximately one minute. Pigeon's back was facing the camera. The video shows Sentmanat-Martinez signal 
Rim to tum around and Rim turns and looks at Pigeon, then Sentmanat-Martinez and Rim get up and run 
toward the poker room. Pigeon got up and walked off moments later. · 

ARRESTING OFFICER(S) P# 

T. Crumrine 8881 

LVMPD 602 (REV. 12-90) • AUTOMATEDIWP12 

APPROVED BY 

Lt. A. Walsh p# 5994 
11/03/10 
0525 hrs 

CONNECTING RPTS. (Type or Event Number) 

TCR/DONICRJVol. StmtJProp. Rpt 

RIM 
\M,\GEO 

I ' 
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.. . I VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTME • 

CONTINUATION REPORT .. 
ID/Event Number: 1964872 Page2 of 2 ;, 

I made contact with Pigeon at 0005 hours and advised Pigeon that he was under arrest for Open and Gross 
Lewdness. While completing paperwork in the security office, Pigeon made several spontaneous and 
unsolicited statements. The first was that his actions were not illegal so long as the person complaining did not 
tell him that they were offended. The second was that his penis was so impressive that no person would 
complain about seeing it. These statements were captured on Bellagio Surveillance video and audio. 

A records check revealed that Pigeon has three previous convictions for Open and Gross Lewdness, all of 
which are in Las Vegas: Case number C-216699 Conviction date 3-28-06 (Felony), Case number C-186418 
Conviction date 1-6-03 (Gross Misd), Case number C254530 Conviction date 11-18-09. 

Due to the fact that Pigeon did fondle and touch his penis to an extent amounting to more than exposure, in 
a plac:e open to the public, I placed Pigeon under arrest for two counts of Open and Gross Lewdness NRS 
201.210. I transported Pigeon to Clark County Detention Center and booked Pigeon accordingly. 
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Case Number: C-13-290261-1

Electronically Filed
5/16/2018 11:25 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

ORDR 
Judge Douglas E. Smith 
Eighth Judicial District Court 
Department VIII 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis A venue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 
(702)671-4338 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

8 STATEOFNEVADA, 

9 Plaintiff, 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
DOUGLAS E. SMITH 

DISTRICT JUDGE 

DEPARTMENT EIGHT 
LAS VEGAS NV 89155 

-vs- CASE NO: 

CHRISTOPHER PIGEON, 

Defendant. 

DEPT NO: 

C-13-290261-1 

VIII 

SPECIAL FINDINGS 

Based upon the totality of the circumstances, all pleadings in Mr. Pigeon's case, NRS 

207.010, Eighth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, Defendant's PSI, past 

Nevada State cases, many arrests and convictions of Mr. Pigeon: 

1. 

2. 

Defendant was in his late 40s when this crime was committed. 

Defendant illegally moved from an apartment to a storage unit of which a 

photo of the storage unit was set up as a bedroom. 

3. Defendant said, "I don't often talk to young girls, but I find this particular girl 

[ 12 years of age] very nice, bright, interesting. I thought she was a 'nice specimen.' I just 

sort of fell in the first stages of love with her and was trying to get to know her over the 

summer. There were only two weeks before school was out so I was really trying to get to -­

get her to let me meet her mom or dad." 

4. Pigeon further said, "My intention was to marry her ... I mean, obviously I 

was somewhat sexually attracted to her." 

5. Pigeon said on May 17, 2013 , he was at the park across from C.C. ' s school 

because he "was going to look in the hallway briefly to see if [C.C.] might not be there." 

000283



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

6. Pigeon admitted that he never met her family but he did want to marry and 

have sex with C.C. with parental permission. 

7. Pigeon testified he found C.C. sexually attractive. 

8. At trial, Pigeon testified that he still loved C.C., he was happy to see her again 

in court, he would like to see her again, he would like to have a relationship with her. 

9. At the time of sentencing, the Court determined Defendant was a large habitual 

criminal under NRS 207.010. 

10. The Court reviewed the 1997 conviction, 970D06614 and 970D06615, 

Defendant was convicted of a felony. 

11. Defendant was convicted under 980D4426 for felony Forgery of Financial 

Instruments. 

12. On March 16, 2000 at a Restitution Center, Defendant intentionally exposed 

himself to three different people. 

13. One of the Complainants Defendant exposed himself at returned and 

masturbated in front of the lady. 

14. In the lobby of the Restitution Center, Defendant sat across from the 

Complainant and exposed himself. 

15. Defendant approached a IO-year-old boy on November 10, 2000. Defendant's 

zipper was undone and then he exposed himself and masturbated. 

16. In Case C 186418, Defendant was convicted of a gross misdemeanor Open and 

Gross Lewdness. 

17. That in Case C 186418, Defendant was seen watching a young child, pants 

undone, genitals hanging out, and he was masturbating. 

18. On May 5, 2004 in Case C208956, ultimately dismissed, Defendant was 

loitering at Lowman Elementary School. Defendant was seen with open pants and stroked his 

penis in front of a 14-year-old girl and a 12-year-old boy. Defendant's case was dismissed on 

a legal technicality. 

19. In Case C216699 on October 18, 2005, Defendant was in JC Penney on 
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Maryland Parkway standing in the juniors' clothing section, penis was out and Defendant was 

masturbating. Defendant was convicted at jury trial, sentenced to 19 to 48 months. 

20. In Case 08FN1701, while was denied in screening at Clark County District 

Attorney's Office, Defendant was arrested for moving to a storage unit, Defendant told police 

he was protesting sexual offender registration. 

21. In Case 08Fl 9304, Defendant was arrested for living in a storage unit without 

registering. Ultimately it was denied for prosecution. 

22. Prosecutors did not proceed in another arrest for moving without registering, 

08F2535 l. 

23. In C254530, Defendant was convicted of Gross Misdemeanor Open and Gross 

Lewdness occurring May 9, 2009. Defendant touched a cocktail waitress, the day before he 

had grabbed her also. Defendant pled guilty to a Gross Misdemeanor Open and Gross 

Lewdness. 

24. In C269318, Defendant was convicted of Felony Open and Gross Lewdness 

occurring November 2, 2010 at the Bellagio Hotel. Defendant took out his penis and began 

masturbating in front of two females. Defendant told police that it was not illegal if the 

viewers were not offended. Defendant pled guilty to Felony Open and Gross Lewdness. 

25. The psychosexual evaluation indicated Defendant "is an overall high risk for 

sexual recidivism, which indicates that he does not present as safe and amenable to treatment 

in the community under supervision of the State." 

26. The sentence is not cruel and unusual based upon the Eighth Amendment of 

the United States Constitution. 

27. Defendant's life sentence is not disproportionate to the crime despite the 

harshness. 

28. "A district court is vested with wide discretion regarding sentencing" and will 

only be reversed "if [the sentence] is supported solely by impalpable and highly suspect 

evidence." Denson v. State, 112 Nev. 489,492, 915 P.2d 284,286 (1996) (citing Renard v. 

State, 94 Nev. 368,369,580 P.2d 470,471 (1978); Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94,545 P.2d 
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2 

1159, 1161 (1976)). 

29. In rendering its sentence, the district court may "consider a wide, largely 

3 unlimited variety of information to insure that the punishment fits not only the crime, but also 

4 the individual defendant." Martinez v. State, 114 Nev. 735,738,961 P.2d 143, 145 (1998). 
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30. In Sims v. State, 107 Nev. 438 (1991), Sims was convicted of Grand Larceny 

for unlawfully taking a purse and wallet containing $476.00. On appeal, Sims challenged the 

Court's decision to adjudicate him as a habitual criminal and sentenced him to life without the 

possibility of parole. In particular, he argued that the sentence was "disproportionate to the 

gravity of the underlying offense and his prior criminal history, and that the sentence ... 

constituted a violation of the Eighth Amendment's proscription against cruel and unusual 

punishment." The Supreme Court upheld the sentence and noted: 

31. 

The district judge, who is far more familiar with Sims' criminal 
background and attitude than the members of this court, sentenced 
Sims within the parameters of Nevada law. Although we may very 
well have imposed a different, more lenient sentence, we do not 
view the proper role of this court to be that of an appellate 
sentencing body. Moreover, because the Legislature has 
determined the sentencing limitations and alternatives that our 
district courts may impose on criminals who habitually offend 
society's laws, we deem it presumptively improper for this court to 
superimpose its own views on sentences of incarceration lawfully 
pronounced by our sentencing judges. 

I find that the Defendant has shown signs and actions to be a pedophile and a 

threat to society. 

32. While harsh, life without the possibility of parole best protects the people of 

the state of Nevada. 

This 14 day of May 2018 

TJUDGE 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 14 day of May 2018, a copy of this Order was 
electronically served to all registered parties in the Eighth Judicial District Court 
Electronic Filing Program and/or placed in the attorney's folder maintained by the 
Clerk of the Court and/or transmitted via facsimile and/or mailed, postage prepaid, 
by United States mail to the proper parties or per the attached list as follows: 

Liz Mercer, Elizabeth.mercer@clarkcountyda.com 

Christopher Pigeon, #90582 
High Desert State Prison 
P.O. Box 650 
Indian Springs, Nevada 89070 

-- <}4w~ 
~by, Judicial Executive Assistant 
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I 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

A. BASIS FOR APPELLATE JURISDICTION 

NRAP 4(b); NRS 177.015(3) 

B. FILING DATES ESTABLISHING TIMELINESS OF APPEAL 

12-23-14: Judgment of Conviction filed1 

12-15-14: Notice of Appeal filed2 

C. ASSERTION OF FINAL ORDER OR JUDGMENT 

This appeal is from a judgment of conviction. 

II 

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

ISSUE NO.1: Whether PIGEON'S 5th and 14th Amendment rights to due 
process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and 
requiring reversal of his convictions where he was incompetent to stand trial 
because he did not have a rational understanding of the proceedings against 
him. 

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether PIGEON's 5th, 6th, and 14th amendment right to 
counsel and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and 
requiring reversal of his convictions where the court allowed him to represent 
himself even though he lacked the mental capacity to competently conduct his 
trial defense unless represented. 

2 
PA/4/849. 
PA/4/846. 
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ISSUE NO. 3: Whether PIGEON'S 5th and 14th amendment rights to due 
process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and 
requiring reversal of his convictions where: 

a. the conviction for lewdness was not supported by the 
evidence because (1) the only evidence supporting that charge was 
testimony of a police officer from a video tape that he viewed 
which the police negligently failed to preserve and which the 
defendant believes would have in fact been exculpatory, and (2) 
the purported act of masturbation occurred in an area of a 
convenience store where no person was likely to observe the act 
and no person did actually observe the act; 

b. the conviction for aggravated stalking was not supported by 
the evidence because the purported victim admitted that PIGEON 
never threatened her; 

c. the conviction for luring children with intent to engage in 
sexual conduct was not supported by the evidence because 
PIGEON never attempted to persuade, lure, or transport the 
purported victim anywhere and had no intention of engaging in 
sexual contact with her unless her parents expressly consented to 
a marriage between the purported victim and PIGEON; 

d. the conviction for attempted first degree kidnapping was 
not supported by the evidence because there was no testimony or 
other evidence that PIGEON took any action toward committing 
the act of kidnapping, had any present ability to transport the 
purported victim, or that he intended to detain or imprison her in 
anyway; 

e. the conviction for burglary was not supported by the 
evidence because the testimony indicated that PIGEON entered 
the convenience store without any felonious intent, but rather, for 
the sole purpose of watching the purported victim. 

2 000296



ISSUE NO. 4: Whether PIGEON'S right against double jeopardy was 
violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his 
convictions where he was charged and convicted of two counts of failing to 
register as a sex offender during the same time period which constitutes 
multiple punishments for the same offense. 

ISSUE NO. 5: Whether PIGEON's 8th Amendment right against cruel and 
unusual punishment was violated amounting to prejudicial error and 
requiring reversal of his convictions where he was sentenced to life in prison 
without the possibility of parole for simply following a 12-year-old girl to 
school on a public bus on three occasions, which sentence is so 
disproportionate to the offense committed as to be completely arbitrary and 
shocking to the sense of justice. 

ISSUE NO. 6: Whether PIGEON's 5th and 14th amendment rights to due 
process of law were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring 
reversal of his convictions where he was found to be an habitual criminal 
based on three underlying felonies, two of which were already enhanced from 
misdemeanors, and there was no evidence that PIGEON constituted a serious 
threat to society. 

ISSUE NO. 7: Whether PIGEON'S 5th and 14th amendment rights to due 
process of law were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring 
reversal of his convictions where the prosecutor erroneously argued to the 
jury that it would be illegal for PIGEON to marry the alleged victim . 

.... 

.... 
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III 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE3 

A. NATURE OF THE CASE 

This is a case about a 51-year-old man suffering from paranoid 

schizophrenia with delusions of grandeur who was sentenced to life in prison 

without possibility of parole for following a 12-year-old girl4 on a public bus 

three mornings and lightly touching her on the arm one time to tell her he thought 

she was pretty. He was never previously convicted of any crime involving 

children.5 

He was tried after a psychologist testified at a competency hearing that in his 

opinion PIGEON was not able to conduct a meaningful defense or avoid 

incriminating himself because he did not understand that he had done anything 

wrong, and he was operating under the delusion that the child in question was in 

love with him. 6 Despite that testimony, not only was PIGEON referred to trial, he 

was permitted to represent himself and during the course of the trial did, indeed, 

incriminate himself. The judge even put the instances where PIGEON 

incriminated himself, on the record. 7 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

"PA" shall at all times herein refer to PIGEON's Appendix filed herewith. 
PA/3/515. 
PA/1/38. 
P A/2/288-290. 
PA/4/691. 
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B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS 

Please see the Appendix table of contents which is sorted chronologically. 

C. DISPOSITION BY THE COURT BELOW8 

COUNT CHARGE SENTENCE 
1 Attempted 1st Degree Kidnapping Life w/out 
2 Aggravated Stalking Life w/out 
3 Luring Children w/Intent to Engage in Sex Life w/out 
4 Burglary Life w/out 
5 Open Or Gross Lewdness Life w/out 
6 Unlawful Contact With a Child 364 days 
7 Prohibited Acts By A Sex Offender Life w/out 
8 Prohibited Acts By A Sex Offender Life w/out 

All counts to run concurrent. 

IV 

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS 

PIGEON is a 51-year-old9 father of three children, IO who suffers from 

paranoid schizophrenia with delusions of grandeur. 11 Before this horrible mental 

disease became chronic he obtained a business degree from the University of Notre 

Dame and an architectural degree from Drexel University. 12 He was also a Captain 

in the United States Army, honorably discharged. 13 At the time of the events 

8 Taken from the Amended Indictment (P A/2/396) and the Judgment Of 
Conviction (P A/4/849). 
9 PA/1/1. 
IO PA/1/12. 
11 PA/2/277-278, 279 
12 PA/12/321. 
13 PA/1/67, 74. 
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which are the subject of this case, PIGEON was homeless, sometimes sleeping in a 

storage unit which he rented. 14 He had no car, and either walked or used the public 

bus system to get around. 15 

On May 15, 2013 according to the alleged victim (C ), PIGEON got 

on the same public bus that she rode to school every morning. PIGEON sat on the 

bottom floor of the bus and she sat on the top. There was no conversation between 

them. She got off the bus near her school and went into CJ's Mini Mart. PIGEON 

looked at her when she was in the store but said nothing to her. When she left the 

store for school she did not notice if he followed her. 16 According to a store 

employee, PIGEON did not appear to be following C . 17 According to a 

police officer who was not present on May 15th
, but watched a store video which 

was unavailable at trial, the video showed that PIGEON had his hands in his 

pockets and was pulling at his genitals and his groin area while he was staring in 

the direction of C .18 PIGEON at all times denied that he masturbated in the 

store. 19 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

PA/1/55, 63, 65. 
PA/1/8, 11. 
PA/3/519-521. 
PA/3/483. 
PA/3/560-561. 
PA/1/21, 22, 33, 34, 44, 69. 
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On May 16, 2013, according to C , PIGEON again boarded the same 

bus she rode to school. He again sat on the bottom floor and she sat on the top. 20 

When she left the bus and started for CJ's Mini Mart, PIGEON caught up with her 

near a parking lot in front of Sonio' s Restaurant21 lightly touched her hand and told 

her she looked nice. 22 C  ignored him and went on her way to CJ' s Mini 

Mart. 23 PIGEON followed her and sat down at the slot machines. 24 When she left 

the store to go to school she did not notice if PIGEON followed her or not.25 

PIGEON's testimony regarding this day is the same as Candace's.26 According to 

a store employee, PIGEON was watching C  the entire time they were in 

CJ' s Mini Mart. 27 

On May 17, 2013, according to C , PIGEON boarded the same bus as 

C  but this time both were on the bottom floor because the top floor was too 

crowded for C  to go up there.28 When they got to CJ's Mini Mart, PIGEON 

again told her that she was beautiful. She ignored him and walked away.29 He 

20 PA/3/524. 
21 PA/3/526. 
22 PA/4/812-813. 
23 PA/3/526. 
24 PA/3/527. 
25 PA/3/528. 
26 PA/4/670. 
27 PA/3/484. 
28 PA/3/531. 
29 PA/3/531. 
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followed her out of CJ's Mini Mart which "creeped her out."30 This testimony 

differed from her recorded statement where she stated that when she left CJ' s Mini 

Mart she was rushing because she was late for school so did not notice if PIGEON 

followed her out of the store or not.31 According to the store employee, PIGEON 

came in the store and was watching C . He told her she looked nice. When 

she left, PIGEON followed her out of the store.32 

V 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

PIGEON was completely overcharged and over sentenced. He was 

sentenced to life without possibility of parole for merely following a 12-year-old 

girl on three occasions and lightly touching her on the hand once, to get her 

attention to tell her that he thought she looked nice. PIGEON and the girl were at 

all times in public in the presence of other persons. He never made any attempt or 

suggestion that she accompany him to another place. He didn't even have any 

means of transporting her to another place as he was homeless and had no car. He 

simply followed where she went, always in public. That is all he did. The sentence 

is so out of proportion to the crime as to shock the conscience of any rational 

person. 

30 

31 

32 

PA/3/532. 
PA/4/812. 
P A/3/485-492. 
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He was convicted under the large habitual because of two prior felonies for 

lewdness which were originally misdemeanors that were enhanced to felonies. 

Neither involved children.33 One was for touching a waitress on the back at 

Treasure Island. A second was for having his hand in his pocket at Bellagio.34 A 

third felony was for forging his parents' names on some checks in 2000 - 13 years 

ago.35 

The man is a paranoid schizophrenic with delusions of grandeur who 

believed that the girl in question loved him and that the two of them would 

eventually obtain her parents' consent to marry. This is what he believes, and that 

was the defense he presented at his trial. He should not have been deemed 

competent to stand trial, let alone to represent himself completely unassisted by 

counsel. This was really a travesty of justice, and PIGEON should at a minimum 

be afforded a new trial where he is required to have counsel to represent him. 

Precedent to that, he should be ordered to intensive psychological testing to 

determine if he is even competent to stand trial and assist with his defense given 

his severe mental illness. This should be done by someone other than Lakes 

Crossing whose stated purpose is to find competency. 

33 
34 
35 

PA/3/413-415. 
PA/4/661. 
PA/3/415. 
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VI 

ARGUMENT 

A. PIGEON NOT COMPETENT TO STAND TRIAL 

(Standard of Review: Clear Error36
) 

Under a clear error standard, an appellate court must accept the lower court's 

findings of fact unless upon review the appellate court is left with the definite and 

firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. 37 In this case, the competency 

court held a hearing, but made no findings of fact regarding her competency 

decision. 38 

It is clear that "the criminal trial of an incompetent defendant violates due 

process. 1139 In order to be placed on trial a defendant must understand the essential 

elements of "a fair trial, including the right to effective assistance of counsel, the 

rights to summon, to confront, and to cross-examine witnesses, and the right to 

testify on one's own behalf or to remain silent without penalty for doing so. 1140 

Moreover, a defendant may not be placed on trial for a criminal offense unless he 

"has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree 

of rational understanding--and ... a rational as well as factual understanding of the 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

United States v. Friedman, 366 F.3d 975, 980 (9th Cir. 2004). 
Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 346 n.14 (1992). 
PA/2/312. 
Cooper v. Oklahoma, 517 U.S. 348, 354 (1996). 
Riggins v. Nevada, 504 U.S. 127, 139-40 (1992). 
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proceedings against him. "41 

It is important to note at the outset that PIGEON is mentally ill. Two 

psychologists agree on this - one hired by the defense, and one from Lakes 

Crossing. But, PIGEON does not believe he has any mental illness. He is like the 

schizophrenic in the movie A Beautiful Mind who was seriously ill but because of 

the illness and delusions which were very real to him, did not believe that he was 

ill. He could not understand how he could be so brilliant and still be mentally ill. 

In his mind, he was the smartest man in the room, and everyone else was out of 

step. He believed the world that his sick mind conjured for him, was real. The sad 

truth is that he WAS brilliant. He WAS a genius. Schizophrenia and genius are 

not mutually exclusive. They can, and often do, co-exist in the same person. So, it 

is important to realize that in this case, PIGEON actually believed that C  

was in love with him. He actually believed that he could go to her parents and that 

they would agree for the two of them to get married. This was his reality. This is 

what he believed, and what he believes to this day. He does not believe he is 

mentally ill because he constantly harkens back to a time before the mental illness 

took over when he obtained two college degrees and attained the rank of Captain in 

the Army. He cannot comprehend how he could have accomplished those goals if 

41 Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402,402 (1960); State v. McNeil, 405 NJ. 
Super. 39, 47-48 (App.Div. 2009). 
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he had been mentally ill. The sad truth is that he probably accomplished them 

before the disease manifested. 

With that preamble, we turn to the facts of this case. 

Dr. Bradley from Lakes Crossing testified that PIGEON stayed at Lakes 

Crossing in 2009 for five weeks and in 2011 for one year.42 He diagnosed 

PIGEON as a chronic paranoid schizophrenic with narcissistic personality with 

delusions of grandeur.43 PIGEON was discharged from Lakes Crossing in 2012 as 

competent on two anti-psychotic medications; a combination ofRispedal and 

Zyprexa.44 In 2013, Dr. Bradley noted that PIGEON refused to take his 

medications.45 During the competency hearing for this case, Dr. Bradley found 

PIGEON competent to stand trial even though he was not taking his medications 

which he had previously found in 2012 that PIGEON needed, to be competent. Dr. 

Bradley further testified that in determining PIGEON's competency to stand trial 

in this case, he never discussed with him whether PIGEON believed that C  

was in love with him, the history of interactions between PIGEON and C  

conversations between PIGEON and C , PIGEON's plan to ask C 's 

parents for permission to marry her, or how PIGEON intended to defend the case.46 

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

PA/2/201, 275-276. 
PA/2/277-278. 
PA/2/285. 
PA/2/280. 
PA/2/283. 
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Dr. Harder, the defense psychologist, noted that the mission statement of 

Lakes Crossing is to restore people to competency. Dr. Harder agreed with Dr. 

Bradley that PIGEON was suffering from paranoid schizophrenia with delusions of 

grandeur.47 He testified that PIGEON was in love with C  and wanted to 

marry her. PIGEON planned to defend himself by informing the jury that C  

was in love with him.48 Dr. Harder concluded that in his opinion, PIGEON would 

have a difficult time not incriminating himself or saying things that would be 

damaging to his case.49 He testified that PIGEON was oblivious to the fact that he 

had committed a crime. He described it as a fixed delusion which could interfere 

with PIGEON's ability to aid counsel in his defense.50 Dr. Bradley (Lakes 

Crossing) described a fixed delusion as one where a person entering a home 

believed that he owned the home and so could not be found guilty of home 

invasion. 51 This is the type of delusion that PIGEON suffers from. Dr. Harder felt 

that PIGEON was capable of understanding the court process but that his delusions 

would keep him from understanding that what he did was wrong or how to keep 

from incriminating himself.52 He said that PIGEON was suffering from 

erotomenia delusion which is a diagnosis for people who believe that someone is in 

47 PA/2/290. 
48 PA/2/288-289. 
49 PA/2/290. 
50 PA/2/292-293. 
51 PA/2/283. 
52 PA/2/294. 
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love with them, who is in fact not in love with them.53 

PIGEON's attorney at the competency hearing stated that PIGEON wanted 

to let everyone know that he is the smartest man in the room and that is why a 12-

year-old girl fell in love with him. 54 PIGEON then himself stated at the 

competency hearing that "we enjoyed one another's company seemingly due to 

body language, due to nearness, upbeat small talk and also facial expressions."55 

All this despite Candace's testimony that they never talked to each other, let alone 

engaged in "upbeat small talk." 

53 

54 

55 

True to Dr. Harder' s prediction, PIGEON did, in fact, incriminate himself. 

The following are PIGEON' s own words at the trial: 

Q. And what initially interested you in following her? 
A. She seemed attracted to me. I mentioned in the interview 
yesterday, facial expressions, body language, and she glanced at me 
often. She didn't seem to mind my company. 
Q. Did you know how old she was or did you learn that later? 
A. I knew that she was probably a junior high student. 
Q. And is that because you knew she went to Hyde Park, which is 
a junior high school? 
A. Yeah. I didn't discover that until later though. 
Q. So did you think that she was around the age of 12? 
A. Yes. 12 or 13, I figured. 
Q. Okay. When she asked you that one day kind of the- by 
Sonio' s to leave her alone, how did you interpret that? 

PA/2/297. 
PA/2/300. 
PA/2/300-303. 
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56 

57 

58 

A. I actually was somewhat shocked because she seemed to like 
my attention. I felt kind of bad about it. I followed her to make sure 
she wasn't going away nuts or anything.56 

Q. With her parental permission, you were saying, you did want to 
marry and have sex with her. Is that right? 
A. That's correct. 
Q. Okay. 
A. Only with permission and of course, marriage.57 

Q. Why did you take the bus route from central station to 
Charleston and Valley View? 
A. Well, I always - I rode the bus with her on purpose. It was to 
be with her. 
Q. Where were you going? 
A. I walked her to school. 
Q. Were you only following C ? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you still love C ? 
A. Yes, I do. 
Q. Were you happy to see her again in Court? 
A. Yes, I was. 
Q. Do you hope to see C  again someday? 
A. . .. I mean, I would really- I really do hope to see her again. 
However, I'd have to have permission for that. 
Q. Do you want to pursue a relationship with C  or another 
teenager in the future? 
A. Only with C . Otherwise I don't want to chase any more 
teenagers. Except for maybe an 18 or 19 year old. Perhaps a student 
atUNLV. 
Q. . .. What would you think of a man that would approve of a 50 
year old following a teenager? 
A. Well, ideally you talk to them and not follow them. Or walk 
with them instead. I'd say it's okay some of the time as long as she 
doesn't say anything about it .... But, I'd say it would depend on the 
circumstances. 58 

P A/4/665-666. 
PA/4/668. 
PA/4/670-671. 
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PIGEON also let the jury know that he had been in jail before and that he 

was previously convicted of sex offenses. During opening statement, PIGEON 

stated that "I've been in Las Vegas for 15 years. I do have some prior lewdness 

charges, but they are very minor I thought. Mostly good natured. "59 He also 

mentioned that, "I do draw extensively while I'm locked up."60 He further stated 

during trial as follows: 

Briefly, we mentioned I have prior charges at the beginning of this -
at the opening arguments of this trial. Those were in 2002, 2006, 
2009, and then again in 2012. I will say all of those if they were my 
first charges would have been misdemeanors. So they're all 
misdemeanor lewdness charges. One of them, as I mentioned earlier, 
was for touching a waitress in the back at Treasure Island Casino. 
That one was reduced to a misdemeanor. Another one was for having 
my hand in my pocket. And then there are two more that are, I think, 
were very mild. I don't think it was that serious an issue. However, I 
did spend time in prison. Two years, the once, which I spent mostly 
in the County Jail. And another time I spent two years and nine 
months; six months in County Jail and two years and three months in 
the prison system at both High Desert and Lovelock for that crime.61 

The trial judge commented on this. 62 

In this case, the competency court made no findings of fact regarding 

competency. She took the matter under submission, then entered a one-sentence 

ruling that PIGEON was competent.63 A different judge who did not have access 

59 PA/3/476. 
60 PA/4/659. 
61 PA/4/661. 
62 PA/4/691. 
63 PA/2/312. 
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to the transcript of the competency hearing, tried the case. PIGEON should never 

have been permitted to stand trial until he had been on his anti-psychotic 

medications, which Dr. Bradley of Lakes Crossing had stated in 2012 was a 

prerequisite to competency for PIGEON. Based on the testimony at the 

competency hearing, there is no rational basis for the court's finding that PIGEON 

was competent without his medication, and the court made no record of the 

reasoning behind its finding of competency. Based on the foregoing, the matter 

should be remanded for a new trial after a finding of competency by an 

independent psychologist appointed by the court (not from Lakes Crossing). 

B. PIGEON NOT COMPETENT TO REPRESENT HIMSELF 

(Standard of Review: de novo 64
) 

The validity of a Faretta waiver is a mixed question of law and fact 

reviewed de novo. De novo review means that the appellate court views the case 

from the same position as the district court. 65 The appellate court must consider 

the matter anew, the same as if it had not been heard before, and as if no decision 

previously had been rendered. 66 

64 United States v. Erskine, 355 F.3d 1161, 1166 (9th Cir. 2004). 
65 League of Wilderness Defenders v. Forsgren, 309 F.3d 1181, 1183 (9th Cir. 
2002). 
66 Ness v. Commissioner, 954 F.2d 1495, 1497 (9th Cir. 1992). 
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In this case, the ultimate insult was that even though two psychologists 

agreed that PIGEON suffered from paranoid schizophrenia with delusions of 

grandeur, he was permitted to represent himself at trial!67 As stated above, there 

was a plethora of testimony from the psychologists that while PIGEON understood 

the court process, he did not understand that what he had done was wrong, and had 

no idea how to competently represent himself without self incrimination. That is 

exactly what happened in this case. He was unable to present a viable defense. He 

admitted he had previously been imprisoned for sex offenses. He testified that he 

was in love with C  and believed that she loved him. He told the jury that he 

would like to see her again. He told the jury that he would still pursue marriage 

with this 12-year-old girl with her parents' consent. 

This unmedicated man suffering from paranoid schizophrenia should never 

have been permitted to try to defend himself without assistance of counsel, 

especially given the seriousness of the charges and potential sentence. That it 

occurred is a travesty of justice, and deprived him of all semblance of a fair trial, in 

violation of his 5th and 14th Amendment rights to due process of law. The proof is 

in the pudding when one looks at the multiple life sentences he received without 

possibility of parole for simply following a 12-year-old girl on three occasions. 

67 PA/2/324. 
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The United States Supreme Court has held that a trial court may insist on 

representation for a defendant who is competent to stand trial but who is suffering 

from severe mental· illness to the point where he is not competent to perform the 

more arduous task of representing himself. 

We now turn to the question presented. We assume that a criminal 
defendant has sufficient mental competence to stand trial (i.e., the 
defendant meets Dusky's standard) and that the defendant insists on 
representing himself during that trial. We ask whether the Constitution 
permits a State to limit that defendant's self-representation right by 
insisting upon representation by counsel at trial--on the ground that 
the defendant lacks the mental capacity to conduct his trial defense 
unless represented. Several considerations taken together lead us to 
conclude that the answer to this question is yes. 68 

The Edwards court went on to state that," ... insofar as a defendant's lack of 

capacity threatens an improper conviction or sentence, self-representation in that 

exceptional context undercuts the most basic of the Constitution's criminal law 

objectives, providing a fair trial. ... Even at the trial level ... the government's 

interest in ensuring the integrity and efficiency of the trial at times outweighs the 

defendant's interest in acting as his own lawyer. See also Sell v. United States, 539 

U.S. 166, 180, 123 S. Ct. 2174, 156 L. Ed. 2d 197 (2003).69 As the Ninth Circuit 

noted, "The [Edwards] Court concluded that the constitutional guarantee of a fair 

trial permits a district court to override a Faretta request for defendants whose 

68 

69 
Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 174 (U.S. 2008). 
Edwards, supra, at 176-177. 
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mental disorder prevented them from presenting any meaningful defense."70 

Indeed, courts have recognized that a trial judge has a continuing duty to 

ensure the defendant is afforded a fair trial and to appoint counsel for the defendant 

during trial if the court determines the defendant is no longer competent to present 

his or her own defense. 71 In the case at bar, the trial judge had misgivings 

throughout the trial about PIGEON's competence, and noted those for the record as 

mentioned above. 

PIGEON contends that he was not competent to stand trial without being on 

his anti-psychotic medication, but even if he was competent to stand trial within 

the meaning of Dusky, he was certainly not competent to represent himself. 

Accordingly, the matter should be remanded for a new trial where he is represented 

by counsel. 

C. VERDICT NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE 

(Standard of Review: de novo) 

Claims of convictions which are supported by insufficient evidence are 

reviewed de novo.72 "The Due Process Clause protects the accused against 

conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to 

70 

71 

72 

United States v. Johnson, 610 F.3d 1138, 1144-1145, (9th Cir. Cal. 2010). 
State v. Dahl, 776 N.W.2d 37, 45 (N.D. 2009). 
United States v. Shipsey, 363 F.3d 962, 971 n.8 (9th Cir. 2004). 
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constitute the crime with which he is charged".73 

1. LEWDNESS CHARGE 

PIGEON was convicted of gross lewdness for allegedly masturbating with 

his hand inside his pocket on one occasion at the CJ's Mini Mart. No one at the 

mini mart observed him doing this. 74 The entire claim is based on a police 

officer's testimony that he watched a video from the Mini Mart in which he 

observed PIGEON with his hands in his pocket and it appeared to him that 

PIGEON was masturbating.75 He had that video copied but did not check to see if 

the video was readable until after it had already been dubbed over by the mini mart 

people.76 So, at trial, there was no actual video for the jury to review. PIGEON 

asserts that the testimony should never have been allowed and he did object to that 

at trial.77 PIGEON asserts that the actual video would have been exculpatory. The 

video was the best evidence of what was purportedly depicted therein, it was 

within the sole province of the police and district attorney to obtain and preserve 

that evidence, and since they were negligent in doing so, testimony about it should 

not have been admitted. 

73 

74 

75 

76 

77 

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477 (U.S. 2000). 
PA/3/495, 521. 
PA/3/556-557, 560-561, 569-570, 572. 
PA/3/556-557. 
PA/3/557-559. 
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a) Testimony Should Have Been Excluded 

NRS 52.235 provides that "[t]o prove the content of a writing, recording or 

photograph, the original writing, recording or photograph is required, except as 

otherwise provided in this Title." Generally the state may produce other evidence 

of a lost video where the state was not the one that lost it. However, where the 

state has lost or destroyed the evidence, the United States Supreme Court has held 

that the secondary evidence of the lost or destroyed evidence (police testimony in 

this case) must be suppressed if the state either lost or destroyed the evidence in 

bad faith or the evidence possessed an exculpatory value that was apparent before 

the evidence was destroyed and is of such a nature that the defendant would not be 

able to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means.78 The 

Second Circuit explained that following that logic, in order for the defendant to 

prevail on having such evidence excluded, he must first show that the evidence has 

been lost and that the loss is chargeable to the State. 79 

In this case, PIGEON has at all times asserted that he was not masturbating 

in the store. He believes that the actual video would have born that out, and was 

therefore exculpatory. There is no other way that he can disprove the state's claim 

except through the actual video. And, finally, the state is the entity that obtained 

78 Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 57 (1988); California v. Trombetta, 
467 U.S. 479,489 (1984). 
79 State v. Nelson, 219 Ore.App. 443,453 (Or.Ct.App. 2008). 
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the video and is the entity that either lost or destroyed it. The officer's testimony 

regarding the video should never have been admitted, and without that testimony 

there was no evidence of lewdness, since no one actually in the mini mart observed 

PIGEON doing anything which could be considered lewd. 

b) Lewdness Was Not Proven 

Even if the police officer's testimony of what he saw on the video was 

properly admitted and PIGEON was rubbing his penis with his hand inside his 

pants at the mini mart, that does not prove lewdness within the meaning of the 

charging documents and the jury instruction which was given in this case. 

The amended indictment in this case, charges PIGEON with gross lewdness 

as follows: 

80 

81 

... did on or about May 15, 2013, then and there willfully, and 
unlawfully and feloniously commit an act of open or gross lewdness 
by masturbating his penis while in the presence of C  
Carpenter and/or other employees or patrons of CJ's Mini Mart ... " 80 

(Emphasis added) 

The jury instruction states: 

... gross is defined as being indecent, obscene or vulgar. Lewdness is 
defined as any act of a sexual nature which the actor knows is likely 
to be observed by the victim who would be affronted by the act. 81 

(Emphasis added) 

In closing arguments, the district attorney advised the jury as follows: 

PA/1/182. 
PA/4/747. 
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Open is used to modify the term lewdness. It includes acts which are 
committed in a private place or which are committed in an open, as 
opposed to secret, manner. It includes an act done in an open 
fashion, clearly intending that the act could be offensive to the victim. 
The term gross is defined as being indecent, obscene, or vulgar. 
Lewdness is any act of a sexual nature, which the actor knows is 
likely to be observed by the victim, who would be affronted by the 
act. 82 (Emphasis added) 

In this case, PIGEON was back behind some store shelving when he was 

supposedly masturbating. No one inside the mini mart observed him masturbating. 

And, PIGEON at all times denied that he ever masturbated or even touched his 

penis while in the mini mart. 83 

For the foregoing reasons, the lewdness charge should be dismissed. 

2. AGGRAVATED STALKING CHARGE 

It is important to note at the outset that PIGEON was charged and convicted 

not of simple stalking, but of aggravated stalking. Regular stalking is a simple 

misdemeanor. In order to rise to the level of aggravated stalking, the stalker must 

threaten the victim with the intent to cause the person to be placed in reasonable 

fear of death or substantial bodily harm. 84 

This Court has held that it was error for a court to fail to instruct the jury that 

a necessary element of aggravated stalking is that the defendant must have 

82 

83 

84 

PA/4/677-678. 
PA/1/21, 22, 33, 39, 44, 69. 
NRS 200.575. 
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threatened the victim.85 In this case, the court properly instructed the jury, but the 

jury failed to follow that instruction. Certainly, if it is error for a court to neglect to 

properly instruct a jury, it is also error for ajury to fail to follow the instruction. 

In this case, the jury found PIGEON guilty of aggravated stalking, despite 

the fact that THERE WAS ABSOLUTELY NO TESTIMONY OR 

EVIDENCE PRESENTED DURING TRIAL THAT PIGEON EVER 

THREATENED C  IN ANY WAY. 86 His only verbal interaction with 

C  was to tell her that she looked pretty. That is all he did. 

This is clearly a case where the jury felt that PIGEON was guilty of stalking 

and just kind of glossed over the "aggravated" part. PIGEON was guilty of 

stalking C , but that is not what was charged and that is not what PIGEON 

was convicted of. That conviction cannot stand where the stalking part is born out 

by the evidence by the "aggravated" part is not. The conviction for aggravated 

stalking must be reversed. 

3. LURING CHILDREN CHARGE 

PIGEON was convicted of luring C  with the intent to engage in 

sexual conduct. 

85 Rossana v. State, 113 Nev. 375 (1997). 
86 See discussion above under "Relevant Facts" where Candace's testimony is 
discussed with cites to the record. 
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First of all, he never "lured" her anywhere. He simply followed her and 

talked to her twice. PIGEON never even thought of luring C  anywhere. 

Q. 
A. 
Q. 
A. 
Q. 
A. 

Okay, all right. Um, she ever been over to your place? 
No. 
Okay. You ever been to hers? 
No.87 

You ever think about kidnapping anybody? 
No. 

Q. No? 
A. No. 
Q. Not even a little bit? 
A. I don't even have a car. How am I gonna kidnap. 
Q. Like, maybe, like grab 'em andjust ... 
A. No. 
Q. . .. take 'em in the bathroom at the park or something like that? 
A. No. 
Q. Nothing like that crosses your mind? 
A. No. 
Q. What about, like, a- just an opportunity. Maybe you were at 
that park and just - you want - that girl? 
A. No. I don't do that. 88 

PIGEON simply followed C . He never even talked to her except to 

tell her that she looked nice. 

Secondly, realizing that PIGEON never lured C  anywhere, the state 

focused on the sexual part, but even then had to really stretch. It claimed that 

because PIGEON said he wanted to have sex with her if they were married, that he 

had the intention of having sex with her regardless of whether they were married or 

not. That is not true, and is not supported by the evidence in this case. What 

87 
88 

PA/1/16. 
PA/1/57-58. 
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PIGEON has always admitted was that he was in love with C  and wanted to 

obtain her parents' permission to marry her. 89 

89 

90 

91 

92 

93 

A. I think she's attractive. Maybe in a few years I wouldn't mind 
marrying her.90 

A. Well, eventually maybe sex with parental permission and 
marriage. 
Q. Okay. If her parents said she's good now, would you do it? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Okay. Do you think they would? 
A. I think so. 
Q. If they met you? 
A. Yes. I mean, it's not, like, a bum or anything. I have an 
education.91 

Q. Okay. You said before that if you had parental permission you 
would have sex with her? 
A. Marry, yes. And have sex. 
Q. You'd marry her? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And have sex? 
A. Yes.92 

Q. Okay. But you - but see, you're - you're confusing me because 
you're saying that with parental permission you'd have sex with her, 
but she's still young. 
A. Yeah. But ... 
Q. But you keep saying she's young. 
A. But if there's marriage - it would be with the intention of 
marrying her. 
Q. Okay. So what if it was with the intention of marrying her and 
having sex with her in the park if she wanted to have sex? 
A. I wouldn't have sex with her in the park.93 

PA/1/22. 
PA/1/23. 
PA/1/29. 
PA/1/46. 
PA/1/47. 
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Naturally, if they were married, he would expect to have sex with her.94 

But, PIGEON has at all times maintained that he had no intention of trying to have 

any type of sexual involvement with C  unless they were married. While the 

thought that he could get a 12-year-old girl to marry him was delusional as 

discussed above, it was not criminal. 

4. ATTEMPTED lsT DEGREE KIDNAPPING CHARGE 

It is incredible that the state even charged PIGEON with attempted 

kidnapping, let alone that he was convicted of it. The attempt instruction in this 

case provided that the defendant had to (1) have the intent to commit the crime, (2) 

perform some act toward its commission, and (3) fail to consummate the intended 

act.95 There was absolutely no evidence that PIGEON intended to kidnap C  

or that he did anything toward accomplishing such an act. As he pointed out, the 

man was homeless and didn't have a car or any other means of transportation, save 

the public transportation system. 

This Court held in Burkhart v. State, 96 that where all contacts with a minor 

took place in a public place, the defendant had no means of transporting the minor, 

and there was no testimony which would have allowed a jury to infer what the 

defendant intended to do with the child, that "[ n ]o rational juror could have 

94 

95 

96 

PA/1/29, 46. 
PA/4/742. 
Burkhart v. State, 107 Nev. 797, 799 (1991). 
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inferred from this evidence that appellant seized Mathew with the specific intent to 

detain him against his will. Any inference as to appellant's specific intent must 

have been based on unbridled speculation." In this case there was even less 

evidence of an intent to kidnap. Unlike the situation in Burkhart, it is undisputed 

that PIGEON never "seized" C  or took any other act which could even 

remotely be deemed an act in furtherance of kidnapping her. 

This Court has held many times that for an attempt conviction to lie, there 

must be an overt act which goes beyond mere preparation to commit the crime. 97 

Evidently, the state is claiming that PIGEON's momentary touching of Candace's 

hand to tell her he thought she looked pretty that day, constituted an attempt to 

kidnap her. This Court has rejected such speculative conclusions. "The legislature 

did not intend that every momentary physical contact should constitute a seizure 

for the purpose of defining a felony carrying a possible penalty of up to seven and 

one-half years. "98 

There was no kidnapping here and there was no intent or attempt to kidnap 

C .99 The conviction should be reversed. 

97 State v. Verganadis, 50 Nev. I (1926); Moffett v. State, 96 Nev. 822 (1980); 
Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997 (1997). 
98 Burkhart, supra, at 799. 
99 P A/4/670, 680-682. 
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5. BURGLARY 

PIGEON was convicted of burglary which was charged in the indictment as 

follows: 

... did on May 15, 2013, May 16, 2013 and/or May 17, 2013 then and 
there willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously enter, with intent to 
commit Battery and/or Kidnapping, and/or Luring a Minor, that 
certain building occupied by CJ' s Mini Mart .... 100 

The state argued in closing that it charged PIGEON with burglary because 

he entered the mini mart with the intent to grab C , 101 kidnap her, 102 and lure 

her. 103 That is nothing but fantasy. PIGEON entered the store to watch C . 

That is all he intended, and that is all he did. There is absolutely no evidence of 

any other intent. The kidnapping and luring counts are discussed above. As to the 

battery claim, PIGEON was in the store with C  on three different occasions 

but at no time in those three encounters did he exhibit any intent nor did he attempt 

to so much as touch C  even when he was standing right next to her and told 

her she looked nice that day. The only time he touched her was outside the mini 

mart on one occasion when he put his hand momentarily on her arm. 

100 

101 

102 

103 

The burglary count should be dismissed. 

PA/2/398. 
PA/4/677. 
PA/4/677. 
P A/4//677-678. 
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D. DOUBLE JEOPARDY/REDUNDANCY ISSUE 

(Standard of Review: de novo) 

Double jeopardy claims are reviewed de novo. 104 

The Double Jeopardy Clause protects against three distinct abuses: a second 

prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; a second prosecution for the same 

offense after conviction; and multiple punishments for the same offense. 105 

In this case, PIGEON was required to register as a sex offender for two prior 

lewdness charges. He was living and registered at 200 South Eighth Street until 

January 5, 2013. After that, he left and failed to register a new address within the 

required 48 hours. 106 He had not registered from January 5, 2013 when he left that 

residence until the date he was picked up for the charges in this case. So, he was at 

all times from January 5, 2013 until May 17, 2013 unregistered. Yet, he was not 

charged with one count of failing to register; he was arbitrarily charged with two. 

He was charged in Count 7 with failing to register on January 7, 2013. 107 And, 

then he was charged in Count 8 for failing to register between April 22, 2013 and 

May 17, 2013. 108 It was one continuous crime. He was charged twice for the same 

104 United States v. Patterson, 292 F.3d 615, 622 (9th Cir. 2002). 
105 Williams v. State, 118 Nev. 536, 548 (2002); Byars v. State, 336 P.3d 939, 
948 (Nev. 2014). 
106 PA/4/700-701, 703, 707-708. 
107 P A/2/3 99. 
108 P A/2/3 99. 
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crime. PIGEON objected to this. 109 

This Court stated that, [w]hile often discussed along with double jeopardy, a 

claim that convictions are redundant stems from the legislation itself and the 

conclusion that it was not the legislative intent to separately punish multiple acts 

that occur close in time and make up one course of criminal conduct. We have 

declared convictions redundant when the facts forming the basis for two crimes 

overlap, when the statutory language indicates one rather than multiple criminal 

violations was contemplated, and when legislative history shows that an 

ambiguous statute was intended to assess one punishment. "'When a defendant 

receives multiple convictions based on a single act, this court will reverse 

"redundant convictions that do not comport with legislative intent.""' After the 

facts are ascertained, an examination of whether multiple convictions are 

improperly redundant begins with an examination of the statute. 110 

The statute in question here is NRS 179D.470 which provides that: 

If a sex offender changes the address at which he or she resides ... the 
sex offender shall, not later than 48 hours after such a change m 
status, provide notice of the change in status .... 

Whether one analyzes this issue under a Double Jeopardy analysis or a 

redundancy analysis, the outcome is the same. PIGEON was twice convicted of 

the same crime - for failing to register as a sex offender between January 7, 2013 

109 

110 
PA/4/712. 
Wilson v. State, 121 Nev. 345, 355-356 (2005). 
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and May 1 7, 2013. One of the convictions must be reversed. 

E. CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT 

(Standard of Review: de novo111
) 

The Eight Amendment to the Constitution provides that excessive bails shall 

not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments 

inflicted. In this case, PIGEON has been sentenced to seven life sentences without 

possibility of parole for following a 12-year-old girl on three separate occasions, 

speaking to her one time to tell her she was pretty, and lightly touching her on the 

hand. The sentence is outrageous and completely shocking given the offense. 

While this sentence was within statutory guidelines under the large habitual rules, 

" ... the bare fact that a sentence is within the maximum prescribed by the 

legislature does not prevent if from violating the constitutional ban against cruel 

and unusual punishment."112 

The United States Supreme Court has directed that "a court's proportionality 

analysis under the Eighth Amendment should be guided by objective criteria, 

including (i) the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty; (ii) the 

sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction; and (iii) the 

sentences imposed for commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions." 113 

111 

112 

113 

United States v. Leon H., 365 F.3d 750, 752 (9th Cir. 2004). 
Faulkner v. State, 445 P.2d 815, 818 (Alaska 1968). 
Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 292 (1983). 
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PIGEON's offense in this case was minor. He stalked a 12-year-old girl and 

told her he thought she was pretty. In Nevada, there are only four crimes for which 

life without possibility of parole may be imposed, to wit: first degree murder 

(NRS 200.030), kidnapping in the first degree (NRS 200.310), sexual assault (NRS 

200.366), and battery resulting in substantial bodily harm (NRS 200.400). Crimes 

for which life without possibility of parole is not within the sentencing guidelines 

include: 

Second Degree Murder 
Mayhem 
Second Degree Kidnapping 
Robbery 
Administration of Poison 
Slavery 
Mutilation of Female Genitalia 
Child Pornography 

In this case, the judge did not even follow the state's recommendation in 

sentencing. Instead, the judge sentenced PIGEON to life without possibility of 

parole because he felt that it was the only way to protect the children of Nevada 

from PIGEON. 
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THE COURT: Question I have, is it with or without the possibility of 
parole? And the only way I can protect our children from you, Mr. 
Pigeon, is sentence you to life without the possibility of parole. 114 

THE DEFENDANT: I would like to add that the sentence without 
parole is a bit extreme. Even Mr. Schifalacqua didn't ask for life 
without parole. 
THE COURT: It's not his charge, it's my charge. I've got to 
determine whether you're a threat to society. And I believe -
THE DEFENDANT: I've never-
THE COURT: -- that we are lucky to have caught this when we did 
so that little girl wasn't violated. I saw your bedroom in that storage 
unit. I'm sure that's where you were headed. Thank you. 115 

The court's conclusion was unfounded. PIGEON did nothing to C . 

He was never previously arrested in connection with any offense involving 

children. There was no evidence of child pornography or other child-related sex 

paraphernalia in PIGEON's storage locker. 116 The storage locker was on the other 

side of town ( at Cheyenne and Rancho117
) from where PIGEON saw C , and 

he had no means of transporting her anywhere. 

The problem here is that the judge was no doubt somewhat prejudiced 

against PIGEON because he was representing himself - and saying crazy things. 

After all, this was not the same judge who conducted the competency hearing. He 

did not know that PIGEON was suffering from severe mental illness. All he knew 

was that another judge had found PIGEON to be competent. So, as far as the trial 

114 

115 

116 

117 

PA/4/824. 
P A/4/825-826. 
See Exhibits 18-32 which are pictures of the storage locker. PA/3/599-612. 
PA/3/567. 

35 000329



court was concerned, PIGEON was a mentally competent man who wanted to 

marry a 12-year-old girl that he believed was in love with him. He did not 

understand that PIGEON was delusional, and that his illness was making him 

believe these things. The court simply did not have all the facts when it sentenced 

PIGEON to life in prison without the possibility of parole. 

The sentence is a travesty as was the entire trial. The matter should be 

remanded for new sentencing which comports with the crimes actually committed. 

F. ERRONEOUS HABITUAL DETERMINATION 

(Standard of Review: de novo118 
) 

As stated above, PIGEON was previously convicted of gross lewdness 

which were originally misdemeanors but which were raised to felonies. 

THE COURT: Okay. Here is a conviction, C269318, open or gross 
lewdness, Category D felony, occurring on October 31 s1, 2012 ... .It is 
certified raised. Okay. The second one they handed me is 
C216699 ... open or gross lewdness, a Category D felony ... And that's 
a felony raised .... 
THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Both of those were raised from 
misdemeanors. 
THE COURT: And then a Texas case, October 3rd

, 2000 ... .lt is a 
forgery. 
THE DEFENDANT: Those are forgeries ofmy parent's checks. 119 

So, two of the priors upon which the habitual was based were actually 

misdemeanors which were raised or enhanced to felonies. It was error to apply the 

118 

119 
United States v. Leon H, 365 F.3d 750, 752 (9th Cir. 2004). 
PA/2/415. 
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habitual statute, itself an enhancement prov1s10n, to these already enhanced 

misdemeanors. 

Case was remanded where the sentence imposed for the offense of 
robbery with the use of a deadly weapon, victim over age 65, 
appeared to have been enhanced consecutively by NRS 193 .165, use 
of a deadly weapon, or NRS 193.167, victim over age 65, and this 
section, habitual criminal. The sentencing court may enhance each 
primary offense pursuant to one enhancement statute; however, 
imposition of consecutive enhancements applied to a primary offense 
is inconsistent with the application of the habitual offender statute 
and the permissible uses of enhancement under NRS 193.165 and 
NRS 193.167. 120 

Moreover, the habitual criminality statute exists to enable the criminal 

justice system to deal determinedly with career criminals who pose a serious threat 

to public safety.121 It may be an abuse of discretion for the court to enter a habitual 

criminal adjudication when the convictions used to support the adjudication are 

nonviolent and remote in time. 122 The convictions which supported the habitual 

determination in this case were all non-violent. The forgery charge was over ten 

years old. The others involved allegedly touching a cocktail waitress on the back 

and lewdness at a casino involving PIGEON' s hands in his pockets. 

120 

121 

122 

Barrett v. State, 105 Nev. 361 (1989). 
Sessions v. State, 106 Nev. 186 (1990). 
Sessions, supra, at 191. 
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Even if Tanksley is considered a career criminal, he does not appear 
to be a violent criminal who poses a "threat to public safety." 
Tanksley obviously suffers from serious mental illness and most 
likely belongs in a mental hospital, not prison; therefore, sentencing 
him as a habitual criminal does not serve the interests of justice and 
was an abuse of discretion. 123 

The habitual determination was an abuse of discretion and should be 

reversed. 

G. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

(Standard of Review: de novo124
) 

Prosecutorial misconduct results when a prosecutor's statements so infect 

the proceedings with unfairness as to make the results a denial of due process. 125 

The state's whole case centered on PIGEON's desire to marry and have sex with 

C , a 12-year-old girl. 

123 

124 

125 

Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997, 1007-1008 (1997, dissent). 
United States v. Bridges, 344 F.3d 1010, 1014 (9th Cir. 2003). 
Browning v. State, 124 Nev. 517, 533 (2008). 
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In this case, in closing argument, the prosecutor stated: 

The crime of attempt first degree kidnapping. In order for there to be 
an attempt, you have to find that he had the intent to commit the 
crime; that he took some act towards the commission of that crime, 
and he failed to actually complete the crime. Which is why it's an 
attempt first degree kidnapping versus an actual kidnapping. The 
elements of kidnapping are that every person who leads, takes, 
entices, or carries away or detains any minor ... with the intent to keep, 
imprison, or confine him from his parents or guardians. He obviously 
intended to take her away from her guardians because he wanted to 
have sex with her. With the intent to perpetrate upon the person of the 
minor any unlawful act is guilty of kidnapping. As the Judge just 
instructed you, it would have been illegal for Christopher Pigeon, 
a 50 year old man, to marry C  C , a 12 year old 
little girl. 126 (Emphasis added) 

That is not true. NRS 122.025 provides that a person under 12 years of age 

may be married with the consent of her parents or legal guardian and a district 

court. 

The matter should be remanded for a new trial because the prosecutor led the 

jury to believe that PIGEON' s intent to get to know C  with marriage as the 

goal, was illegal, when that intent was not. 

VII 

CONCLUSION 

PIGEON' s convictions should be reversed because he was not competent to 

stand trial without being medicated, even with medication, his mental illness is so 

severe that he could not receive a fair trial unless represented by counsel, the 

126 PA/4/673-674. 
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, . 
evidence did not support the convictions, the failure to register convictions are 

redundant and/or violate the double jeopardy clause of the Constitution, the 

habitual finding was an abuse of discretion, the punishment is completely out of 

proportion to crimes, and prosecutorial misconduct so infected the proceedings as 

to render the verdict suspect. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dated this 9th day of March, 2015. 

~) 
SANDRA L. STEWART, Esq. 
Attorney for Appellant 
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